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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 1
FORT WORTH DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
V.

MICHAEL MENSAH (01)
RALPHAEL OPARE (02)

DILLEN OPARE (03)

ISAIAH WILEY (04)

KYRON OATES (05)

VERNAL WOODS (06)

DIEMARCO WESTMORELAND (07)
CORTEZ ATKINSON (08)
BRADLEY MCARTHUR JR (09)
DATRAVEN WARREN (10)

SIR JAMES MACK WILLIAMS (11)
SADEDRICK WILSON (12)
JAYLEN JESHAUN FRANKLIN (13)
JOSEPH HILL (14)

CHAUNCEY ROSS (15)

MARCUS SHAW (16)

KEYSHAWN BURTON (17)
JAMARION MANOGIN (18)
LAMARION AUSTIN (19)

BLAKE AARON SCOTT (20)
JAKAYLA TOTTEN (21)
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CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

[, Special Agent (SA) Michael Gantt, being duly sworn, state the following is true
and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief;
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INTRODUCTION AND AGENT BACKGROUND

I. I am a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation (“*I'BI”") and
have been so employed since January 2020. | am currently assigned to a Sale Streels Task
Force that investigates criminal enterprises and violent gangs for the FBI Dallas Ficld
Office’s Fort Worth Resident Agency.

2. As an FBI Special Agent, I am an “investigative or law enforcement officer

of the United States” within the meaning of Section 2510(7) of Title 18, United States

Code, that is, an officer of the United States empowered by law to conduct investigations

of and to make arrests for offenses enumerated in 18 U.S.C. § 1959,

3. I have specialized training and experience in the areas of gang-related
criminal activity, interview and interrogation techniques, evidence recovery, source
recruitiment, arrest procedures, search and seizure, and cellular phone analysis. As an I'Bl
Special Agent, I have investigated violent gang-related activity and firearm and drug
trafficking for five years, which resulted in the arrest of subjects and the seizure of
controlled substances.

4. I submit this affidavit in support of a criminal complaint and arrest warrant

charging (1) Michael Mensah, Ralphael Opare, Dillen Opare, Isaiah Wiley, Kyron

Oates, Vernal Woods, DeMarco Westmoreland, Cortez Atkinson, Bradley McArthur
Jr., DaTraven Warren, Sadedrick Wilson, Joseph Hill, Chauncey Ross, Marcus

Shaw, KeyShawn Burton, LaMarion Austin, and Blake Aaron Scott, with conspiracy Lo
conduct the affairs of an enterprise through a pattern of racketeering (i.e., RICO

conspiracy), in violation of 18 U.S5.C. § 1962(d); (2) Michael Mensah, Isaiah Wiley,
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Kyron Oates, DeMarco Westmoreland, Cortez Atkinson, Bradley McArthur Jr.,
Datraven Warren, Sir James Mack Williams, Jaylen Jeshawn Franklin, Chauncey
Ross, Blake Aaron Scott, KeyShawn Burton, Jamarion Manogin, LaMarion Austin,
and Jakayla Totten, with Violent Crimes in Aid of Racketeering (VICAR), as noted
below, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1959(a); (3) Michael Mensah, Ralphael Opare, Dillen
Opare, [saiah Wiley, Kyron Oates, Vernal Woods, Demarco Westmoreland, Cortez
Atkinson, Bradley McArthur Jr., Sadedrick Wilson, Joseph Hill, Chauuncey Ross,
Marcus Shaw, Blake Aaron Scott, KeyShawn Burton, and LaMarion Austin, with

conspiracy to distribute a controlled substance, in violation of 21 U.S.C, § 846; and (4)

a firearm in furtherance of a drug trafficking crime or a crime of violence, in violation of
18 U.S.C. § 924(c).

5. The facts and information contained in this affidavit are based upon my
personal knowledge, training, and experience, as well as information and evidence
obtained from witnesses and other law enforcement officials, including but not limited to,
members of Arlington Police Department (“APD”), some of whom, as relevant here, have
specialized knowledge regarding the Kiccdoe street gang. All observations | did not
personally make were relayed to me by the individuals who made them or come from my
review of tecords, documents, and other physical evidence obtained during the course of

this investigation.
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0. This affidavit contains information necessary to support probable cause for
this application. It is not intended to include each and every fact and matter observed by me
or known to the United States. Accordingly, where I refer to conversations and events, |
often refer to them in substance and in relevant part rather than in their entirety or
verbalim, unless otherwise noted. This affidavit also reflects my current understanding of
facts relating to this investigation, but my understanding may change in the future as the
investigation proceeds.

PROBABLE CAUSE

The Kiccedoe Enterprise

7. In April 2024, Arlington Police Department contacted the ['Bi to request
assistance in their investigation of a criminal street gang known as “Kiccdoe” and/or *600”
after a Kiccdoe gang member was shot and killed on the campus of an Arlington high
school. The murder resulted in multiple retaliation shootings between Kiccdoe and other
oangs in Arlington, Texas. Based on APD’s and FBI’s investigation of Kiccdoe activity
over the past eighteen months, which spans conduct going back even further, as described
below, investigators have learned the following,

8. Kicedoe originated from the 600 block of East Arkansas Lanc on the castside
of Arlington, Texas. For this reason, Kiccdoe members regularly use the nickname 600"
{or simply, “6”) to describe the gang and its members. Since its inception, Kiccdoe has
been invelved in various violent criminal acts, including shootings, robberies, burglaries,
and the distribution of narcotics, throughout Arlington, Texas, and other North Texas

cities.
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9. Members of Kicedoe are known to openly display their membership in and
association with the gang by adding words such as “kiccdoe,” “KDN” (for “Kiccdoe
Nation™), “6,” or “600” to their publicly viewed social media usernames and biographies;
posting photographs of themselves in clothing bearing the “600” or “KDN" designations
and with other members of Kicedoe; and by creating Instagram “Highlights,” labeled “6”
or “600,” that collect all of their Kicedoe-related photos in one place for the public to view.

10.  As a group, Kiccdoe traffics controlled substances, including marijuana and
fentanyl, to earn money. Drug-trafficking members of Kiccdoe sell the same kinds of
narcotics (typically, marijuana); often use the same distribution platform (Instagram); ofTer
roughly the same prices; and employ the same form language, graphics, and marketing
techniques to illicitly sell their narcotics. They also refer customers to fellow Kicedoe
members for sales. At times, they accept payment through another Kiccdoe member’s
electronic payment platform profile (such as CashApp).

t1.  Kiccdoe commits acts of violence (o perpetuate and maintain its reputation as
a violent street gang in the community. To become a membey of Kiccdoe and remain in
good standing, initiates and members are expected to comniit acts of vielence, such as
robberies (commonly called “lices™ ot “hits” by Kicedoe members).

2. Kiccdoe members may earn “stripes”™ by committing a robbery or a shooting,
and they increase their standing in the group by carrying out acts of violence to make
money or in response to perceived slights or insults by outsiders, especially members of
other gangs, such as rival gang “Shakebacc.” When a Kiccdoe member is insulted or

slighted or harmed by an outsider, such as a rival gang or gang member, Kiccedoe gathers as
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a group and executes coordinated retaliatory actions—such as shootings—in response.
13.  Additionally, members of Kiccdoe are known to produce songs and music
videos in which they openly express their membership and association to listeners. As I'Bl

agents gathered information refated to Kiccdoe, they learned of a YouTube video titled,

“Texas Hood Tour: Arlingion (with SSG Splurge),” posted by Valley Club Records on
August 28, 2024, During the video, producers were taken on a guided tour of various

“hoods” throughout Arlington, Texas.
g

14. At the 31:03 mark titled, “Luh Mack on 600,” the production crew met with
Kicedoe gang member Sir James Mack Williams, also known as “Luh Mack.”

15.  After shaking hands with members of the production crew, Williams
escorted them to a crowd of males while pointing and saying, “Hell yeah, we 600 in this
bitch, man. That’s Lil Mare, that’s Dillen, Lil KJ, that’s Ralph, that’s Blicc. Hell yeah. We
just outside coolin.”

16.  During the investigation, APD and Bl agents became familiar with the faces
of Kiccdoe gang members, through social media surveillance and repeated law
enforcement interactions. Therefore, they were able to visually identify the males pointed
out by Williams as Marcus Shaw, Dillen Opare, Kyron Oates, Ralphael Opare, and
Blake Scott, respectively.

17.  While using his hands to display his gang affiliation to the camera, Blake
Scott said, “Free Trap, Free Key, Free Quez, Free JoJo. Free all the members. Free Jugg ]

too. Free Jugg. He really put a nigga face on the curb.”
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Based on previous law enforcement interactions involving these individuals, in which
officers learned the nicknames these Kicedoe members, investigators are awarce that Scott
was referring to then incarcerated Kicedoe gang members Isaiah Wiley, Keyshawn
Burton, Juvenile 8, Joseph Hill, and Chauncey Ross, respectively.

18.  As the video continued, Scott and Williams informed viewers that they
“started 600" due to everyone else “claiming Park Row.” Williams stated, “We the [irsl
niggas lo claim a different block. Everybody wanted to be from Park Row.” “We said.
alright, bet.” “Y all want to do that, we gone do this, nigga.” “We straight off Arkansas
Lane, 600 block.”

19.  Kiccdoe, including its leaders, members, and associates, constituted an

enterprise as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(b)(2) and 196 1(4), that

is, a group of individuals associated in fact that engaged in, and the activitics of which
affected, interstate commerce. The enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose
members functioned as a continuing unit for a common purpose of achieving the objectives
of the enterprise.
Purposes of the Enterprise

20.  The purposes of the enterprise include the following:

a, Enriching the members and associates of the enterprisc through,
among other things, robberies and the distribution ol narcotics.

b. Preserving and protecting the power, territory and profits of the
enterprise through the use of intimidation, violence, threats of
violence, assaults, and murder.

c. Promoting and enhancing the enterprise and its members’ and
associates’ activitics.
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d. Keeping victims in fear of the enterprise and in fear ol its members
and associates through violence and threats of violence,

Means and Methods of the Enterprise
21, Among the means and methods by which the defendants and their associates
conducted and participated in the conduct of the affairs of the enterprise were the
following:
a. Members of the enterprise and their associates committed, attempted

and threatened to commit acts of violence, including murder, robbery,
and assault, 1o protect and expand the enterprise’s criminal operations,

b. Members of the enterprise and their associates promoted a climate of
fear through violence and threats of violence.

C. Members of the enterprise and their associates used and threatened to
use physical violence against various individuals.

d. Members of the enterprise and their associates trafficked in illegal
narcotics.

Kicedoe, including its Members and Associates, Engaged in Racketeering Activity and
Other Criminal Conduct

22.  Onlune 6, 2024, detectives from Arlington Police Department obtained a
search watrant for the Instagram account of a juvenile Kiccdoe gang member who was
suspected to have committed a retaliation shooting on April 24, 2024.

23, While reviewing the contents of the account, detectives learncd that members
and associates of KKicedoe were utilizing Instagram’s group chat function to discuss their
gang alfiliation, various violent crimes, trafficking of narcotics and weapons, and to
conspire to commit other violent crimes. APD later provided a copy of the search warrant

return to FBI agents.
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24, Onluly 10, 2024, after reviewing the contents and confirming that the group
chat was being used to discuss criminal activity, FBI agents obtained federal Instagram
search warrants for the accounts of Dillen Opare, DeMarco Westmoreland, Juvenile 4,
Michael Mensah, Cortez Atkinson, Ralphacl Opare, Marcus Shaw, Juvenile 5, Vernal
Woods, E.B. (a now-deceased Kiccdoe member), and Juvenile 11, reflecting content from
January 1, 2023 to July 10, 2024.

25.  On April 29, 2025, FBI agents obtained additional search warrants for the

accounts of Isainh Wiley, Kyron Oates, JaMarion Manogin, and Bradley McArthur,
reflecting content from January 1, 2023, to April 29, 2025.
26.  The search watrant returns revealed conversations, pictures, videos, and

voice messages in which Kiccdoe gang members and associates affiliate explicitly with the

Kiccdoe gang and discuss criminal activity in which the gang engaged or planned,

including robberies, burglaries, shootings, attempted murders, and drug trafticking, as

discussed further below.

27.  While reviewing the contents of the accounts, FBI agents confirmed that
Kiccdoe gang members publicly identify their membership by posting photographs of
themselves wearing clothing depicting “Kicedoe,” “600,” and/or “KDN" (Kiccdoe Nation),

as further depicted below:
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28.  FBI Agents also confirmed that Kiccdoe members engage in acts of violence
to enhance their standing within the organization. For instance, on June 6, 2024, Cortez
Atkinson, who utilized the Instagram handle, “monkglivinG,” stated, “I'm 600,” self-
identifying himself as a member of Kiccdoe. Atkinson further stated that Kiccdoe
members “don’t shoot for fun,” they “shoot to kill.”

29.  As the conversation continued, Atkinson scolded another member of the
group chat who claimed association with Kiccdoe because that individual had not shot
anyone. Atkinson advised that: “If yeen never shot nobody u not 600.”

30.  Inaddition to shooting rival gang members, Kiccdoe members are expected
to kill rival gang members, commonly referred to as collecting “hats.” For example, on
September 28, 2024, Atkinson told members of the group chat, “Y’all need to go get some

hats,” “Tired of hearing the same dead niggas name,” “Who nun of y’all potnas touched,”
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“Then y’all be getting shot,” and “Nun of y’all shooters dead.” Through my training and
experience, | know the term “hat” to reference a person who was murdered on behalf ol the
gang.

31.  Kiccdoe members are also expected to retaliate against rival gang members
who disrespect Kiccdoe. Local street gangs are known to publicly disrespect other gangs
by putling the letter “k” after the opposing gangs’ names on social media. The letter "k™ is
short for the word killer. Therefore, if a rival gang member posted “600k™ on social media,
il is considered a threat to the life of a Kiccdoe member, to which Kiccdoe members are
expected to respond.

32, For example, in February 2024, a member of an opposing gang posted a
video titled, “600k.” In response to the video, Kiccdoe gang member Isaialh Wiley uscd a
female intermediary to befiiend a member of the opposing gang and obtain the male’s
home address. The female then provided the male’s address to Wiley. Days later, the male
was shot five times outside of his residence.

33.  After the shooting, Isaiah Wiley messaged the female and staled, “Dey aine
600K nomo (laughing emoji).”

34.  Lastly, Kiccdoe gang members put in “work” for the enterprise. That work
consisted of shootings, robberies, and murders before an individual could “carn their
stripes” as a Kiccdoe gang member. Based on my training and experience, | know that

“stripes” are a way for Kiccdoe members to gain entrance to ot increase their rank in the

gang.
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35.  For example, on November 1, 2022, Kiccdoe gang members planned to
murder a rival gang member afler the individual disrespected Kiccdoe, Prior Lo the
shooting, Kicedoe gang member Sir James Mack Williams volunteered (o execute the
shooting because he needed to earn a “stripe.”

36,  As FBI agents continued to review messages exchanged within the group
chat, they observed conversations suggesting Kicedoe gang members knew their conduct
as a criminal enterprise could lead to a federal racketeering charge by law cnforcement. FFor
example, on April 14, 2024, at 11:49 am, Dillen Opare posted two screen shots to the
group chat, containing a message warning Kiccdoe gang members that they were being
monitored by law enforcement and advising them Lo discontinue “post{ing] up at Arbrook”
and “posting yall guns.” The message further advised that Kiccdoe members” overt display
of weapons on social media was “drawing attention to us,” “Inna bad way.” As the
conversation continued, a juvenile Kicedoe gang member stated, “*Scat gone make us get a
Rico.”

37.  OnlJuly 24, 2024, Isaiah Wiley further warned Kiccdoe gang members of
their open display of gang related activity via the internet when he stated, “Igl allat internet
shit gottttaaaa stop,” “Dey watchin allat.” Wiley advised that all law enforcement nceded
to prove was that their conduct was gang related, and they could pursue RICO charges

against them.

38.  Onluly 27,2024, Blake Scott posted a message to the group chat in which

he ordered all participants to leave the group chat because he learned that law enforcement

was going through his phone to gather enough evidence to build a RICO case.
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39,  Kicedoe members and associates regularly use social networking websiles
such as Instagram and YouTube, to post photographs, videos, and statements that identily
and highlight their affiliation with the enterprise, as well as their gang-related
accomplishments, thereby glorifying and perpetuating the Kiccdoe enterprise.

40.  Kicedoe members also use Instagram to communicate with one another; plan
criminal conduct, such as murders, robberies, drive-by shootings, and drug transactions;
and document or discuss the same after such criminal acts are completed. The Kicedoe
member group chat, for example, was an internet forum used by members (o report gang-
related eriminal conduct, and publish videos and pictures of the same, for the purpose of
advancing the group’s criminal objectives.

41.  Among those criminal objectives is the trafficking of illegal narcotics.
Kicedoe members utilized Instagram “stories” and direct messages to advettise, sell, and
coordinate the delivery of controlied substances on behalf of the criminal enterprise.
Defendants’ Membership in, and Association with, the Kicedoe Enferprise

42. At various times relevant to this Complaint, defendants Michael Mensal,
Raiphael Opare, Dillen Opare, Isaiah Wiley, Kyron Oates, Vernal Woods, DeMarco
Westmoreland, Cortez Atkinson, Bradley McArthur Jr,, DaTraven Warren, Sir
James Mack Williams, Sadedrick Wilson, Jaylen Jeshaun Franklin, Joseph Hill,
Chauncey Ross, Jamarion Manogin, Blake Aaron Scott, Keyshawn Burton,
LaMarion Austin, JaKayla Totten, and Marcus Shaw, along with others known and
unknown, were members and associates of the Kicedoe street pang, a criminal organization

whose members and associates engaged in acts of violence, including murder, attempted
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murder, robbery, and narcotics distribution, and which operated principally in Arlington,
Texas.

43,  APD’s Gang Unit documents gang members using a Gang Identification
Card (GIC), which applies objective criteria to identify individuals who are members of
criminal street gangs. Over the course of several years and dozens of arres(s and

interviews, APD detectives have identified many of the defendants as members ol the

Kiccdoe street gang.

44, They did this by evaluating whether the individual: (1} sel{-identilies as a
gang member or admits to gang membership; (2) has been identified by another person as a
gang member; (3) frequents an area of the gang or associates with other known members;
(4) uses gang dress, hand signals, tattoos, or symbols; (5) has been arrested with other
known gang members for an offense consistent with gang activity; (6) visited a gang
member in a penal institution; or (7) has recruited others to become gang members.

45, Utilizing the various bases for APD’s documentation, as well as additional
facts learned during this investigation, FBI agents have identified all of the defendants
named herein as members of the Kiccdoe enterprise.

Michael Mensah (1)

46.  Michael Mensah has self-identified as a Kicedoe gang member in Instagram

posts and rap songs; has been identified as a Kiccdoe member by other Kiccdoe members

on social media posts; and has used Kiccdoe dress, hand signals, tattoos, or symbols,

Crimigal Complaint - Page 14 of 85



Case 4:25-mj-00708-BP Document1 Filed 11/04/25 Page 15 0f 85 PagelD 186

47.  During the investigation, FBI agents obtained a federal search warrant for
Mensab’s Instagram account, While reviewing the contents thereof, FBI agents observed
Mensah utilized the Instagram names, “luhh8ball” and “LLT FreeMySmacca’s 6.”
Mensah’s use of the number “6” is an overt symbol of his affiliation with Kiccdoe.
Furthetmore, FBI agents observed images in which Mensah is observed in possession ol'a
firearm with multiple Kicedoe gang members, posting an image to his Instagram story

advocating the release of other Kicedoe gang members from jail, and posting an image of

himself in jail with the caption, “I'm otw 6.

48,  Mensah’s affiliation with Kiccdoe began belore he turned eighteen years old,
but continued on past the age of majority. Since becoming an adult, Mensah has continued
self-identifying as a Kiccdoe member on social media and associating with other known
members. For example, his Instagram profile prominently displays *6” at the top,
signaling continued affiliation with Kiccdoe. And since turning 18 years old, he has posted
pictures confirming that he remains “G’d up” (that is, in a gang) with a “6” to indicate
alfiliation.

Ralphael Opare (2)

49, Ralphael Opare has self-identificd as a Kicedoe gang member on Instagram
and in rap videos; used Kiccdoe dress, hand signals, tattoos, or symbols; been taken into
custody with known Kicedoe gang members; and recruited new criminal strect gang

members.
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50.  Opare’s Instagram account showed him utilizing the Instagram name,
“Ralphkicedoe74.” His use of the word “kiccdoe” within his Instagram username is an
overt display of his affiliation with Kicedoe. Other Instagram posts of his reference “Big
6ix” and “freedembixers.”

S1.  Furthermore, FBI agenis observed images on his Instagram account in which
Opare overtly represents himsel{ as a Kicedoe member and can be scen in possession ola
firearm with multiple other known Kiccdoe members. Opare was also arrested with
another known Kiccdoe member, D.J., on April 26, 2024,

Dillen Opare (3)

52, Dillen Opare has self-identified as a member of Kicedoe; has frequented 600
[zast Arkansas, an area known to be associated with Kiccdoe; and has used Kicedoe dress,
hand signals, tattoos, or symbols.

53.  During an interview of Dillen on July 28, 2023, APD detectives asked him if
he was a member of Kiccdoe. Dillen responded by shaking his head and pointing to a "6”
tattoo on his arm. Dillen also utitized the Instagram username “dillenkicedoe74™ and has
“KIDN® (“Kiccdoe Nation™) in his profile, further identifying himself as a member of
Kicedoe, Dillen also frequents 600 East Arkansas, where Kiccedoe originated.

54.  While reviewing an album titled “6” on Dillen’s Instagram page, detectives

observed several images of Dillen with known Kicedoe gang members.
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Isaiah Wiley (4)

55.  Isaiah Wiley has frequented 600 East Arkansas, an area known to be
associated with Kicedoe; has associated with other known Kiccdoe gang members; has
used Kiccdoe dress, hand signals, tattoos, or symbols; and has been arrested or taken into
custody with known Kicedoe gang members.

56.  FBI agents observed several images in which Wiley wore clothing which
displayed the words, “Kicedoe Nation.” Wiley is also a known rapper and utilizes his
musical platform to overtly identify himself as a member of “600,” as evidenced by his
album which he titled, *600 Season.”

57.  OnlJuly 19, 2023, Wiley was arrested with another known Kiccdoe member,
Sir James Mack Williams, for unlawful carrying of a weapon and possession ol
marijuana,

Kyron Oates (5)

58.  Kyron Oates has self-identified as a Kiccdoe member; associates with
known Kiccdoe members; has used Kiccdoe dress, hand signals, tattoos, or symbols; and
has been arrested or taken into custody with known Kiccdoe gang members.

59.  While reviewing Qates’ Instagram biography, FBI agents observed that
Oates associated himself with “600” in his public profile.

60.  While reviewing stories posted by Oates, FBI agents observed that Oates
reposted an image previously posted by Kiccdoe gang member Sir James Mack Williams
which depicted a mugshot of Oates after he was arrested for aggravated assault with a

deadly weapon. In the photo, Williams noted that Oates was a member of 600.
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61.  OnFebruary 17, 2024, Oates was arrested with known Kiccdoe member,
Isaiah Wiley.

Vernal Woods (6)

62.  Vernal Woods has been identified as Kiccdoe gang member by another
person; has used Kiccdoe dress, hand signals, tattoos, or symbols; has been arrested or
taken into custody with other Kicedoe gang members; and has been known lo recruit new
pang members to Kiccdoe.

63.  While reviewing Woods’ social media account, APD delectives observed

~that Woods was known to associate with members of Kiccdoe. In addition, when members
of Kicedoe were arrested, Woods was observed posting images noting the phrase,
“{reedem6s,” an overt association with Kicedoe gang members.

64.  On August 16, 2024, Woods was identified as a member of Kicedoe by M.O.
during a deadly conduct investigation.

65. Woods’s affiliation with Kiccdoe began before he turned eighteen years old,
but continued past the age of majority. Since becoming an adult, Woods has continued
self-identifying as a Kicedoe member on social media, associating with other known
members, and trafficking illegal narcotics.

DeMarco Westimoreland (7)

66.  DeMarco Westmoreland has self-identified as a Kicedoe gang member on
Instagram; has been identified as a Kiccdoe member by another person; frequents an arca
associated with Kicedoe gang members; and has used Kicedoe dress, hand signals, tattoos,

or symbols.
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67.  While reviewing the search warrant return for Westmoreland’s account, Bl

agents observed that Westmoreland’s usernanie was “marc03iccdoe74,” an overt
association with Kiccdoe. In addition, as FBI agents reviewed photographs and videos
posted by Westmoreland, they observed he overtly associated himself with Kicedoe by
publishing photos with other members and claiming “6” and the “600 club.”

68.  Westmoreland’s mother identified him as a member of Kiccdoe to APD.

69.  On September 22, 2024, Westmoreland further claimed association with

Kicedoe when he posted the message, “Ima be da first nigga in 600 dat Ice his mouth out.”

70.  Westmoreland’s affiliation with Kicedoe began before he turned eighteen
years old, but continued past the age of majority. Since becoming an adult,
Westmoreland has continued self-identifying as a Kiccdoe member on social media,
associating with other known members, and trafficking illegal narcotics.

Cortez Atkinson (8)

71.  Cortez Atkinson has been identified as a Kiccdoe member by another
person; frequents 600 East Arkansas, an area associated with Kiccdoe; and has used
Kicedoe dress, hand signals, tattoos, or symbols.

72.  During the investigation, FBI agents obtained a federal search watrant for
Atkinson’s Instagram account. While reviewing its contents, FBI agents observed
Atkinson was utilizing the Instagram name, “monkglivinG.” Atkinson’s use of the
number “6” is an overt symbol of his affiliation with Kiccdoe. Additionally. FI3I agents
observed a message posted by Atkinson in which he admitted his membership in Kicedoe

and claimed to have “started 600.”
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Atkinson can also be seen in multiple rap videos with known Kiccdoe member, Isaiah
Wiley, making “6” gang signs with his hands.

73.  On September 21, 2023, APD spoke with A.W., who identilied Atkinson as
a “600” member.

74.  Atkinson’s affiliation with Kiccdoe began before he turned cighteen years
old, but continued past the age of majority. Since becoming an adult, Atkinson has
continued self-identifying as a Kiccdoe member on social media, associating with other
known members, and participating in acts of violence, such as robberies and drive-by
shootings with fellow Kiccdoe members.

Bradley McArthur, Jr‘. (N

75,  Bradley McArthur has frequented an area known to be associated with

Kiccdoe gang members; and has used Kiccdoe dress, hand signals, tattoos, or symbols.

76.  During the investigation, FBI agents oblained a federal search warrant for
McArthur's Instagram account. While reviewing the contents thereof, FBI agents
observed McArthur was utilizing the Instagram name, “600stix.” MeArthur’s use of the
number “600” within his Instagram username is an overt symbol of his affiliation with
Kiccdoe. Furthermore, FBI agents observed images in which McArthur overtly
represented himself as a member of Kicedoe, such as by associating with known Kicedoc
members or by posing with fircarms in front of the home of another Kiccdoe member (705

Moss Glen').

! This address is known to be associated with Kiccdoe members, as discussed below in Count Six.
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77.  MeArthur utilizes the Telegram name “sixhunnidbowls74.”
78.  On December 7, 2024, McArthur further identified himsell' as a member of
Kiccdoe when he sent a message to another Instagram user stating, “im 600.,”

Datraven Warren (10}

79.  Datraven Warren has been identified as a Kiccdoe gang member by another
person; has frequented 600 East Arkansas, a location associaled with known Kicedoe gang
members; and has used Kicedoe dress, hand signals, tatloos, or signals.

80.  APD Detectives also noted that Warren’s name on Instagram was
“lultrekicedoe74,” an overt association with Kiccdoe. Additionally, Warren’s mother
identified him as a member of Kiccdoe.

81.  Warren’s affiliation with Kiccdoe began before he turned cighlecn years old,
but continued past the age of majority. Since becoming an adult, Warren has continued
sclf-identifying as a Kiccdoe member on social media, associating with other known
members, and trafTicking illegal narcotics. This is evidenced by his Instagram, which
retains explicit Kicedoe references and, as recently as August 28, 2025, conlains piclures of
large quantities of marijuana packaged for delivery.

Sir James Mack Williams (1 1)

82.  Sir James Mack Williams has self-identificd as a Kicedoe gang member;
has frequented 600 East Arkansas, an area associated with Kiccdoe gang members; has
used Kiccdoe dress, hand signals, tattoos, or symbols; and has been arrested or taken into

custody with known Kicedoe gang members.
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83.  While reviewing Williams’s Instagram account records, FBI agents observed
that Williams listed his full name as “600 INC,” overtly identifying himsell'as a member
of Kiccdoe. Furthermore, Williams overtly associated himself with Kicedoe in the
previously referenced YouTube gang documentary.

84.  Williams, a rapper who utilized the stage name, “tuhmack,” also had an
album cover for a CD created which depicted himsell as a cartoon character. The CD was
titled “600 Baby” and depicted Williams’ fictional character outside of 600 East, the arca
where Kicedoe originated.

Sadedrick Wilson (12)

85.  Sadedrick Wilson has self-identified as a Kiccdoe gang member; has
frequented 600 Bast Arkansas, a known Kicedoe area; and has used Kiccdoe gang dress.
hand signals, tattoos, or symbols.

86.  APD detectives noted that Wilson was utilizing Instagram name,
“dr0skii6 . Additionally, Wilson’s Instagram biography has “600” and “KDN" displayed.
an overt association with Kicedoe. As APD detectives reviewed Wilson’s photographs.
they noted that Wilson posted images of himself using his hands to display the number
“g

Javlen Franklin (13)

87.  While reviewing the search warrant return for Bradley MceArthur, FBI
agents observed that Jaylen Franklin utilized Instagram account, “Jaykiccdoe600” and

“600BamBam®; both accounts overtly associated Franklin as a member ol Kiccdoe.
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Furthermore, on November 18, 2024, Franklin posted to Instagram: “What dbk stand for
we Kiccdoe gang.”

88.  As FBI agents continued their investigation, they obtained booking
photographs of Franklin, which show that Franklin has a “600” tattoo behind his ear.

Joseph Hill (14)

80.  Joseph Hill has sell-identified as a Kiccdoe gang member; has frequented
600 East Arkansas, an area where Kicedoe gang members were known (o Irequent; and has
used Kiccdoe dress, hand signals, tattoos, or symbols.

90.  While reviewing Hill’s Instagram account, APD detectives observed that he
utilized the name, “6osluljojo” and had “KDN" overtly displayed in his biography. Both
symbols were used to identify as a member of Kicedoe, APD detectives also observed that
il had a photo album called “6” which contained the images further associating him with
Kiccdoe. On November 13, 2024, Hill sent a message Lo the Kicedoe group which stated,
“Ggang.” Other Instagram messages show known Kiccdoe members identifying Hill as a
fellow member.

91.  Hill’s affiliation with Kiccdoe began before he turned eightecn yeats old. but
continued past the age of majority. Since becoming an adult, Hill has continued seli-
identifying as a Kiccdoe member on social media and associating with other known

members.
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Chauncey Ross (15)

92.  Chauncey Ross has been identified as a Kicedoe gang member by lellow
member Sir James Williams on March 20, 2024; and has used Kiccdoe dress, hand
signals, tatloos, or symbols.

93, Ross prominently displays “600” on his Instagram profile page. Investigators
have also observed Reoss posl messages (o his Instagram stories page that demonstrate his
affiliation, including the phrase “Free600” and pictures of other Kicedoe gang members.

Marcus Shaw (16)

94.  Marcus Shaw has self-identified as a Kiccdoe gang member: has lrequented
600 East Arkansas, a location associated with known Kiccdoe gang members; and has used
Kiccdoe dress, hand signals, tattoos, or signals.

95.  Shaw also utilized the Instagram name of *600blkmarkk,” an overt
association with Kicedoe, In addition, Shaw had an album on his Instagran: account titled,
#6.” The album contained various images in which Shaw associated himsell"with Kiccdoe
by, for example, posting that he was at the “600 East Apartments.”

96.  Additionally, APD detectives observed a conversation Shaw had with an
opposing gang member in which he used the phrase, “on6,” a common phrasce used by
Kiccdoe gang members openly associating themselves with Kicedoe.

Keyshawn Burton (17)

97.  Keyshawn Burton has self-identified as a Kicedoe gang member; has
frequented 600 East Arkansas, a location associated with known Kicedoe pang members;

and has used Kicedoe dress, hand signals, tatioos, or symbols.
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98.  Specifically, Burton prominently displays “6” and “600” on his [nstagram
profile and on Instagram stories.

99.  Investigators have also observed pictures of him with other known Kicedoe
members on his profile, as well as Kiccdoe messaging, such as “Free Blice.” referring to an
incarcerated member of the gang.

100. Burton’s affiliation with Kiccdoe began before he turned eighteen years old,
but continued past the age of majority. Since becoming an adult, Burten has continued
self-identifying as a Kiccdoe member on social media, associating with other known
members, and trafficking illegal narcotics.

Lamarion Austin (19)

101. Lamarion Austin has self-identified as a Kiccdoe gang member; has
frequented 600 East Arkansas, a location associated with known Kicedoe gang members;
has used Kiccdoe dress, hand signals, tattoos, or symbols; and has been arrested with
another Kiccdoe member (Ralphael Opare) on October 19, 2022.

102. Investigators have observed pictures of him wearing clothing bearing “KIDN”
(Kiccdoe Nation) and “6” prominently displayed on his Instagram profile, as well as “Frec
Blice.” Direct messages between other Kicedoe members also revealed that Austin carned
entrance to the gang. Austin was identified as a member of Kicedoe by his brother, 1A,

Blake Scott (20)

103.  While reviewing Instagram search warrant returns for various Kiccdoe pang
members, FBI agents observed multiple images of Blake Scott in which he overtly

identifies as a member of Kiccdoe, including a YouTube video and multiple images ol him

Criminal Complaint - Page 25 of 85




Case 4:25-mj-00708-BP Document1 Filed 11/04/25  Page 26 of 85

wearing clothing depicting the words, “KDN,” “Kiccdoe600,” and “600":

{e!.}? Iul.blice
-

fulstee Them yng gol Iha HE6U % bBul faevs rep i
] sal e aby pfease doa’t approach mu due §]

Associates of Kiccdoe

104. The remaining defendants
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Jamarion Manogin (18) and Jalayla Totten

(21)—are associates of the Kiccdoe the enterprise who aided and abetted criminal conduct

undertaken on behalf of the Kiccdoe street gang, and did so knowing the conduct was

undertaken on behalf of an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, and for the purposce

of gaining entrance to and maintaining and increasing positions in the gang, as described in

Counts Ten, Twelve, Fourteen, and Fifteen.

Criminal Complaint - Page 26 of 85




Case 4:25-mj-00708-BP Document1 Filed 11/04/25 Page 27 of 85 PagelD 198

COUNT ONL
RICO Conspiracy
(Violation of 18 U.S.C. § [962(d))

105. Paragraphs 7 through 104 are hereby realleged and incorporated as if fully set
forth herein.

106. From in or about at least August 2021 through the present, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Fort Worth division of the Northern District ol Texas
and elsewhere, the defendants Michael Mensah, Ralphael Opare, Dillen Opare, Isaiah
Wiley, I(yron Oates, Vernal Woods, DeMarco Westmoreland, Cortez Atkinson,
Bradley McArthur Jr., DaTraven Warren, Sadedrick Wilson, Josepl Hill, Chauncey
Ross, Marcus Shaw, KeyShawn Burton, LaMarion Austin, and Blake Aaron Scolt.
together with other persons known and unknown, each being a person employed by and
associated with Kicedoe, an enterprise that engaged in, and the activities of which affected,
interstate commerce, knowingly and intentionally conspired to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c),
that is. to conduct and participate, directly and indirectly, in the conduct of the aflairs ol the
Kiccdoe enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity, as that term is defined by 18
1.S.C. § 1961(1) and (5).

107.  The pattern of racketeering activity through which the defendants agreed to
conduct the affairs of the enterprise consisted of:

a. threats and acts involving murder, chargeable under Texas Penal Code
§§ 19.02, 7.01, 7.02, 15.01, and 15.02;
b, threats and acts involving robbery, chargeable under T'exas Penal Code

§§ 29.02, 29.03, 7.01, 7.02, 15.01, and 15.02; and
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C. offenses involving drug trafficking in violation of Title 21, United
States Code, Sections 841 and 846.
108. It was a further part of the conspiracy that each defendant agreed that a
conspirator would commit at least two acts of racketeering activity in the conduct of the
alfairs of the enterprise.

Overt Acts in Furtherance of the Conspiracy

109. In furtherance of the racketeering conspiracy, and to effect the objects and
purposes thereof, the defendants Michael Mensah, Ralphacl Opare, Dillen Opare, Isaiah
Wiley, Kyron Oates, Vernal Woods, DeMarco Westmoreland, Cortez Atkinson,
Bradley McArthur Jr., DaTraven Warren, Sadedrick Wilson, Joseph Hill, Chauncey
Ross, Blake Aaron Scott, KeyShawn Burton, LaMarion Austin, and Marcus Shaw.
together with others known and unknown, committed, and caused to be commitied the
following overt acts, among others, within the Northern District of Texas and elsewhere:

110.  Overt Act No. 1: On or about January 20, 2022, defendant Dillen Opare

drove a fetlow Kiccdoe member, Juvenile 9, to the home of N.C. for the purpose ol
conducting a retaliatory drive-by shooting, Juvenile 9 had previously threatened to
“smoke” N.C. in direct messages to N.C. At approximately 6:40 p.m., with Opare driving,
Juvenile 9 fired multiple shots into the home at XXX Dunkirk Lane, Arlington, Texas,

attempting to kill N.C.
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111. Overt Act No. 2: On or about May 7, 2022, defendant Blake Scott and

Juvenile 8, another Kiccdoe member, foltowed W.B. back to his apartment and robbed him
at gunpoint of approximately $250 and an Apple iPhone.

112, Overt Act No. 3: On or before August 1, 2022, and continuing through the

present, defendants Kyron Oates, Isaiah Wiley, Dillen Opare, Ralphael Opare, Michael
Mensah, Cortez Atkinson, Sadedrick Wilson, Vernal Woods, Chauncey Ross, Marcus
Shaw, Lamarion Austin, Joseph Hill, Keyshawn Burton, DeMarco Westmoreland, and
Blake Scott used Instagram Lo advertise and illegally sell marijuana.’

£13. Overt Act No. 4: On or about November 9, 2022, defendants Keyshawn

Burton, LaMarion Austin, Isaiah Wiley, DeMarco Westmoreland, Datraven Warren,
Sir James Mack Williams, and Jaylen Franklin conspired to murder a rival because ol a
perceived slight. After a drive-by shooting occutred at the rival’s home, Austin and
Williams made admissions in private Instagram messages confirming that they were
responsible.’

114.  Overt Act No. 5: On or about June 6, 2023, defendant Joseph Hill fired

multiple shots at three individuals who were sitting outside the Sonic restaurant at 2100 L.
Lamar Boulevard in Arlington, Texas, attempting o kill them, because onc had earlier

disrespected him via social media.

* This conduct is charged and further explained in Count Two below.
* This conduct is charged and further explained in Count Three below.
! This conduct is charged and further explained in Count Five below.
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115, Overt Act No. 6: On or aboul June 9, 2023, defendants DeMarco

Westmoreland and Bradley McArthur lured C.W. to a home on Moss Glen Trail in
Arlington, Texas, with a ruse, and then robbed him at gunpoint of his firearm.”

[16. Overt Act No. 7: On or about January 1, 2024, defendant Michael Mensah,

using Instagram direct messages, offered to sell A.B. a firearm for $350. When A.B. met
Mensah in the bathroom of Main Event in Grand Prairie, Texas to buy the gun, Mensah
instead used the gun to rob A.B. of the cash he brought for the purchase.

117. Qvert Act No. 8: On or about February 6, 2024, defendant Chauncey Ross

entered an apartment on Skillman Street in Arlington, Texas, and murdered B.G. by
shooting him several times.®

118. Overt Act No, 9: On or about February 17, 2024, defendants Kyron Oates

and Isaiah Wiley attempted to murder T.P. by furing him out of his home and shooting him
multiple times. Defendant Jakayla Totten aided and abetted the attempted murder by
contacting T.P. via Instagram and planning a romantic rendezvous with T.P. as a ruse o
lure him out of his home to be shot by Oates and Wiley,’

119.  Overt Act No. 10: On or about March 30, 2024, defendant Michael Mensah

robbed A.LNU at gunpoint of cash and a fircarm. J.H. aided and abetted the robbety by
driving Mensah to a meet-up location, recording the offense as it occurred in the backscat
of the vehicle (for later dissemination to Kiccdoe members), and driving Mensah away

from the scene to escape.’

* This conduct is charged and further explained in Count Six below.

“ This conduct is charged and further explained in Count Eight below.
’ This conduct is charged and further explained in Count Ten below.
¥ This conduct is charged and further explained in Count Twelve below.
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120. Overt Act No. 11: On or about April 4, 2024, defendant Cortez Atkinson and

two juvenile Kicedoe members—Juvenile 2 and Juvenile 4—planned and executed a
robbery of B.B. Believing that he was there to sell a firearm, B.B. traveled (o meet
Atkinson and the two juvenile members, who instead pulled guns on B.B. and robbed him
of the firearm he intended to sell and the cash he brought with him. Atkinson later
circulated an audio message in a Kicedoe group chat admitting to the robbury.

121. Overt Act No. 12: On or about April 8, 2024, E.B., a deceased Kiccdoc

member, lured J.H. to the apartment of another Kicedoe member with a ruse. When LIL
arrived, B.B. and defendant Vernal Woods were waiting there to rob him. While Woods
held 1.i1. at gunpoint, E.B. rummaged through J.I1.’s pockets and took his gun, before
assaulting I.H, and forcibly throwing him out of the apartment.

122, Overt Act No. 13: On or about April 13, 2024, defendant Marcus Shaw

with the help of Vernal Woods—setup a sham gun purchase with K.LNU, who arrived to
sell a firearm but was instead robbed of his gun by Shaw, Wood, and E.B. (a deceased
Kicedoe member).

123.  Overt Act No. 14: On or about April 24, 2024, defendants Michael Mensah,

Ralphacl Opare, Yernal Woods, DeMarco Westmoreland, Cortez Atkinson, and

DeMarcus Warren conspired to murder T.R.”

? This conduct is charged and further explained in Count Thirteen below,
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124,  Overt Act No. 15: On or about May 15, 2024, defendant DaTraven Warren

communicated with L.W. to arrange L.W.’s purchase of a fircarm from another Kiccdoe
member, Juvenile 1. L.W. met with Warren and Juvenile 1 to purchase the firearm. Alter
entering the back of their vehicle, Warren drove away while Juvenile pulled a gun to rob
[..W., who dropped his phone and $700 cash in the vehicle before jumping out of the
moving car.

[25. Overt Act No. 16: On or about July 5, 2024, defendant Jamarion Manogin

~ robbed N.LNU at gunpoint of two firearms and a cellular phone. When N.LLNU did nol
initially relinquish his phone, Manogin discharged his firearm into the ground and
demanded the phone again, causing N.LNU to give it up.'’

126. Overt Act No, 17: Beginning in and around August 2024, and continuing

through at least December 2024, Bradley McArthur and Sadedrick Wilson used

Instagram to advertise and sell fentanyl.!'!

127. Overt Act, No. 18: On or about March 10, 2025, defendant Cortez Atkinson

and Juvenile 7 attempted to murder rival gang members by firing multiple shots at them at

the Arbrook Apartments in Arlington, Texas.'?

¥ This conduct is charged and further expiained in Count Fourteen below,
" This conduct is charged and further explained in Count Sixteen below.
' This conduct is charged and further expiained in Count Seventeen below,
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COUNT TWO
Assault with a Dangerous Weapon in Aid of Racketeering upon W.B.
(Violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1959(=a)(3) and 2)

128. Kicedoe, including its teaders, members, and associates, constituted an
enterprise as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(b)(2), that is, a group of
individuals associated in fact that engaged in, and the activities of which affected, interstate
commerce, The enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose members functioned
as a continuing unit for a common purpose of achieving the objectives ol the enterprisc.

129. The Kiccdoe enterprise, through its members and associates, engaged in
racketeering activity, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1959(b)(1) and
1961(1), that is, acts involving murder and robbery in viofation of Texas law and offenscs
involving drug trafficking, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841 and
846.

130.  On or about May 7, 2022, in the Forl Worth Division of the Northern District
of Texas, defendants Blake Scott and Juvenile 8, and others known and unknown, aiding
and abetting each other, for the purpose of gaining entrance to and maintaining and
increasing position in or with the Kiccdoe street gang, an enterprise engaged in racketecring
activity, unlawfully and knowingly assaulted W.B. with a dangerous weapon, in violation
of Texas Penal Code §§ 22.02(a)(2), 7.01, and 7.02, all in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§
1959(a)(3) and 2.

131. OnMay 7, 2022, at approximately 12:35 a.m., APD Officers responded (o a
Viridian Village Drive Apartiment, Arlington, Texas, to assist the {ire department with a

reported incident in the area.
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While staged in the parking lot, officers observed a black male walking through the parking
lot with an AR rifle firearm in his hands.

132.  Officers ordered the male to stop, but he instead fled on foot and officers lost
sight of him after a brief pursuit,

133.  Returning to the parking lot, officers saw one male and one fcinale, The male,
W.B., informed officers that he had been robbed at gunpoint by two black males.

134.  W.B. advised that prior to being robbed, he was playing basketball at the
Hawthorne Apartments. Two black males followed him when he left.

1

135. From prior interactions, W.B. knew one of the males as “Slimey.” Both males
followed him into an elevator and to the door of his apartment, where they robbed him al

punpoint ol approximately $250 and an Apple iPhone. Responding officers knew “Siimey”

to be a nickname used by a male identified as Juvenile 8, a Kiccdoe associnte.

136. OnMay 12,2022, APD detectives reviewed the surveillance lootage from the
lobby of W.B."s apartment. During the review, they visually identified the second suspect
as Blake Scott, as they had interacted with Scott on previous occasions. On May 14, 2022,
Juvenile 8 and Scott were arrested on charges related to the robbery.

137. OnMay 16, 2022, detectives executed a search warrant at Juvenile 8's
primary residence, recovering one 7.62 round and a rifle magazine.

138, On May 17, 2022, W.B. reviewed a photo lineup containing an image of

Scott and identified Scott as the second male who robbed him.
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139.  Pursuant to a search warrant, detectives reviewed Juvenile 8's Instagram
account and found images of him with firearms. Detectives also found images of Juvenile 8
carrying a backpack and wearing a jacket matching those he wore during the robbery.

140. Messages found on Juvenile 8’s account appear to discuss the robbery both
before and after its commission. On May 6, 2022, at 11:25 p.m., Juvenile 8 had several
video calls with W.B. Afier one video call, W.B. asked Juvenile 8 for his address.

141,  After conferring with W.B., Juvenile 8 contacted Blake Scott about a “lice,”
which is a common slang term for robbery. After the robbery, Juvenile 8 used Instagram to
locate someone to pick him and Blake Scott up afer they ran away from the police,

142.  The investigation revealed that Juvenile 8 is a Kiccdoe associate, appearing in
pictures and rap videos with known Kicedoe members, including those wearing “KDN”
(for “Kiccdoe Nation™) clothing,.

143, FBI agents further learned that Juvenile 8 is a rapper who utilizes the stage
name, “Easlimey.” One of his music videos published online is called, “Biggest 3,” and
depicts Juvenile 8 rapping into a microphone while Kicedoe gang members Isaiah Wiley
and Blake Scott dance in the background with firearms.

144, Scott and Juvenile 8 committed the robbery (or “lice™) to advance Kicedoe’s
purposes of making money and increasing and maintaining reputation and respect in the
community, and to increase and maintain their own standing in Kiccdoe by earning a

“stripe.”
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COUNT THREE
Conspiracy to Possess with Intent 1o Distribute a Controlled Substance
(Violation of 21 U.S.C. § 8406)

145. Beginning in or before August 2022 and continuing through the present, in
the Fort Worth Division of the Northern District of Texas, the defendants Michael
Mensah, Ralphael Opare, Dillen Opare, Isaiah Wiley, Kyron Qates, Vernal Woods,
DeMarco Westmoreland, Cortez Atkinson, Sadedrick Wilson, Joseph 1ill, Chauncey
Ross, Marcus Shaw, Keyshawn Burton, Lamarion Austin, and Blake Scott, along with
others known and unknown, did knowingly and intentionally combine, conspire,
confederate, and agree to engage in conduct in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) and
()(1)(C), namely to possess with intent to distribute a mixture and substance containing a
detectable amount of marijuana, a Schedule I controlled substance, in violation of 21
1.S.C. § 846 (21 U.S.C. §§ 84 1(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C)).

146, Review of the search warrant returns for Instagram accounts of Kicedoe
members revealed that each of these defendants traffics the same kind of narcotics
(marijuana); using the same distribution platform (Instagram); offering roughly the same
prices; and employing the same form language, graphics, and marketing techniques (o seli
their product. This pattern is consistent across all Kicedoe members who traffic narcotics,

147, Marijuana-trafficking members of Kicedoe utilize Instagram’s “stories”™
function to advertise their product, posting pictures or videos of the drugs and indicating
prices with a “Shop Open” or fire emoji graphic and “grams/dollars” format.

148. For example, Kyron Qates posted the following pictures to his Instagram

stories page on February 10, 2024, advertising the sale of marijuana:
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149, Thereafter, Instagram direct messages show Oates coordinating the sale and
delivery of marijuana to individuals responding to his advertisement.

150. Kiccdoe members also refer drug customers to other Kiccdoc members’
pages by including their Instagram handles on advertisements for the sale of drugs,

151. For example, on November 4, 2023, Ralphael Opare reposted an imagce
previously posted by Marcus Shaw (600blkmark), informing his Instagran: [ollowers (hal
“different strands” of marijuana could be purchased from other Kicedoe gang members,
including fuhmack _ (Sir James Mack Williams), bangshi6ix (DeMarco Westmoreland),
LiiLkj (Kyron Qates), luhmaniak (LaMarion Austin), findhisstashspot600 (Jaylen
Franklin), ralphkiccdoe74 (Ralphael Opare), Zaedatrapgod (Isaiah Wiley), and

dillenkicedoe600 (Dillion Opare).
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152.  Many other Kiccdoe members followed the same pattern in advertising the
sale of drugs on Instagram and selling to followers who respond to the add. Isaiah Wiley
posted the following pictures to his Instagram stories page on September 28, 2024,

advertising the sale of marijuana:
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153. Thereafter, Instagram dircct messages show Wiley coordinating the sale and
delivery of marijuana to individuals responding to his advertisement.
154, Dillen Opare posted the following pictures to his Instagram stories page on

March 2 and April 17, 2024, advertising the sale of marijuana:

{55. Instagram direct messages show Dillen coordinating the sale and delivery ol

marijuana to individuals responding to his advertisements on March 2, 2024,
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156. Ralphael Opare posted Lhe following pictures to his Instagram stories page

on March 2, 2024, advertising the sale of marijuana:

[57. Thereafter, Instagram direct messages show Ralphael coordinating the sale
and delivery of marijuana to individuals responding to his advertisement. "The messages
also show Ralphacel sending to a customer a screenshot of the CashApp profile for fellow
Kiccdoe member Dillen Opare for payment.

158. Onluly 15, 2024, Ralphael again used Instagram direct messaging Lo
negotiate the purchase price and coordinate the sale and delivery of marijuana.

159, Michael Mensah posted the following picture to his Instagram slories page

on February 23, 2024, advertising the sale of marijuana:
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160. Thereafter, Instagram dircct messages show Mensah coordinating the sale
and delivery of marijuana to individuals responding to his advertisement.
161. Cortez Atkinson posted the following picture to his [nstagram stories page

on April 5, 2024, advertising the sale of marijuana:

162. Thereafter, Instagram direct messages show Atkinson coordinating the sale
and delivery of marijuana to individuals responding to his advertisement.
163. Vernal Woods posted the following pictures to his Instagram stories page on

December 5, 2024, advertising the sale of marijuana:
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164. Thereafter, Instagram direct messages show Woods coordinating the sale and

delivery of marijuana to individuals responding to his advertisement.

165. Chauncey Ross posted similar pictures to his Instagram storics page on
March 18, 2024, advertising the sale of marijuana.

166. Thereafter, Instagram direct messages show Ross coordinating the sale and
delivery of marijuana to individuals responding to his advertisement,

[67. Marcus Shaw posted similar pictures to his Instagram stoties page on
December 15, 2023, advertising the salc of marijuana.

168. Thercaller, Instagram direct messages show Shaw coordinating the sale and

delivery of marijuana to individuals responding to his advertisement,

169. LaMarion Austin {requently posts pictures of himsell with large quantitics

of marijuana, cash, and guns:

i
|
i
!
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170. On February 7, 2025, Austin contacted another Instagram uscr to arrange Lo
purchase a large quantity of marijuana. On April 24, 2025, Instagram direct messages show
Austin soliciting the sale of a “bowl” (that is, a pound of marijuana) through a juvenile
Kicedoe member.

[7t,  On August 23, 2025 and September 9, 2025, Instagram direct messages show
that Joseph Hill used the platform lo coordinate the sale and delivery of marijuana.

172, Keyshawn Burton’s Instagram messages also show that he used the ptatform
(o advertise and distribute marijuana. On February 7, 2023, Burton advertised marijuana
for sale by posting a picture of the drugs to a group chat,

173.  On February 19, 2023, in response to another user attempted to self him
marijuana, Burton replied, “Bro you know I'm a Plug right?” The term “plug” here means |
a source of supply for iliegal drugs.

t74. Blake Scott posted pictures to his Instagram stories page on November 29,

2024, advertising the sale of marijuana.
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[75.  On August 12, 2025, APD was conducting surveillance on an area where they
believed street level narcotics activity was occurring. While surveilling the arca, APD
officers witnessed Scott remove an item from a dark trash bag hidden inside a grill and then
deliver that item to a vehicle that arrived at his home in what appeared to be a hand-1o-hand
drug transaction. After departing the area, the vehicle was stopped for expired registration
by APD, which ran a K-9 around the vehicle’s exterior. When the K-9 alerted to the
presence ol narcotics, officers searched the vehicle and found marijuana.

176. Sadedrick Wilson also frequently advertised the sale of marijuana on his
Instagram page, including as early as September 2023 and as late as May 2024.

177. DeMarco Westmoreland has posted to Instagram that he has “da best za in
town.” “Za” is a slang term for marijuana. On August 25, 2025, Westmoreland posted
pictures to his Instagram stories page, advertising the sale of marijuana and the Fact thai he

is delivering to customers.
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COUNT FOUR
Possession of a Firearm in Furtherance ol a Drug Trafficking Crime
(Violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 924(c)(1)(A) and 2)

178. Paragraphs 148 through 149 of this Complaint are incorporated and realleged
as if fully set forth herein.

179,  On August 11, 2022, in the Fort Worth Division of the Northern District of
Texas, defendant Kyron Oates, aiding and abetting others, did knowingly possess a
firearm, to wil: a pistol, in furtherance of a drug trafficking crime for which he may be
prosecuted in a court of the United States, that is, conspiracy to possess with intent to
distribute a controlled substance, as described in Count Three of this Complaint, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 924(c)(1)(A) and 2.

180. On August [1, 2022, APD officers conducted a traffic stop on a red Chevrolel
Trax, bearing Texas registration PYJ1888, for an equipment violation, Officers identificd
the driver as Kyron Oates. After informing Oates of the reason for the stop, ofticers
detected an odor of marijuana emanating from the vehicle. Alfter questioning, Qates
admitted to being in possession of a “roach” or burned end of a marijuana cigar.

181. Oates was removed from the vehicle as officers prepared to conduct a
probable cause search. At that time, he admitted that he possessed marijuana and a Firearm
inside of a bag in the front seat,

182, During a search of the vehicle, APD located a Glock [irearm. bearing serial
number BUPF671 and containing one round in its chamber; a magazine containing 13
rounds; one container of marijuana; and one multi-colored scale containing marijuana

residue-——consistent with drug-dealing instead of drug-using activity.
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Officers also found three marijuana roaches in the vehicle’s cupholder,
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COUNT FIVE
Conspiracy to Commit Murder in Aid of Rackeleering upon A.I.
(Violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1959(a}(5))

183. Paragraphs 128 through 129 are hereby realleged and incorporated as if fully
set forth herein.

184. On or about November 9, 2022, in the Fort Worth Division ol the Northern
District of Texas, the defendants Keyshawn Burton, LaMarion Austin, Isaiah Wiley,
DeMarco Westmoreland, Datraven Warren, Sir James Mack Williams, Jaylen
Franllin, and others known and unknown, for the purpose of gaining entrance to and
maintaining and increasing position in the Kiccdoe street gang, an enterprise engaged in
racketeering activity, uniawfully and knowingly conspired and agreed with cach other to
murder A.P., in violation of Texas Penal Code §§ 19.02 and 15.02, all in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1959(a)(5).

[85. On November 9, 2022, at about }1:09 p.m., APD Officers were dispatched to
Bramblewood Coutt, Arlington, Texas, regarding a drive-by shooting. At the scene, olficers
recovered shell casings and observed bullet holes in the residence’s exterior.

186. APD detectives learned the target of the shooting was a home on
Bramblewood Ct. While gathering information from the victims who were present during
the shooting, APD officers were informed that the residents believed their home was
targeted because of a continuing feud bet‘ween a member of Kiccdoe and A.P.—-a resident

of the Bramblewood house and rival gang member.
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187. One resident shared a conversation she had on Instagram with a Kicedoe
member after the shooting occurred. The resident asked the male “Who shot up house.™ to
which the male responded, “We're lrey.”. Trey is A.P.’s nickname. From this, and because
A.P. was in a feud with Kiccdoe, the resident believed that A.P. was the target.

188. APD detectives learned that the messages were sent by Instagram account
“600blk.luhmack,” which they confirmed was being utilized by Sir James Mack
Williams, a Kiccdoe gang member.

189. APD officers also learned of a second drive-by shooting that occurred at
XXX Lynnfield Court, Arlington, Texas, less than an hour after the Bramblewood shooting.
The complainant said four gunshots were fired. Upon arrival there, APD officers recovered
a shell casing and identified the residence as home to members of a rival gang 1o Kicedoe
and the subject of multiple shootings since 2021.

190.  With information gathered from residents of the two targeted homes, APD
detectives obtained search warrants for the Instagram accounts of various Kiccedoe
members, including Sir James Mack Williams. Contents of the accounts revealed thi
Kicedoe members used group chats to plan the Bramblewood shooting, inciuding sharing
images of the residence beforehand.

191, On November 1, 2022, an Instagram account utilized by Juvenile 2—a

.

Kicedoe member—inserted a screenshot of a conversation he had with the user. » doutdad”™
into the group chat. A.P.’s mother confirmed that Instagram account, “4outdad,” was the

Instagram account utilized by A.DP.
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192.  The screenshot was a conversation Juvenile 2 had with A.P., a rival gang
member, who appeared to disrespect Juvenile 2. Because of the disrespect. and to protect
and maintain the reputation of Kicedoe and Kicedoe members, Juvenile 2 pianned and
executed the Bramblewood shooting with the help of other Kiccdoe members.

193.  During the chat, Kiccdoe members worked together to identify A.P.’s
location. As the chat continued, Kiccdoe member Sir James Mack Williams voluntecred
to participate in the shooting to enhance his reputation with Kicedoe when he stated, "Omm
['m onnat,” “Need me a stripe.” Another juvenile Kiccdoe member added: “Mack you
coming too so you can get sum stripes under yo belt.” The term “stripe” is used to

reference one’s credibility as a member of Kicedoe. Kiccdoe members earn stripes by

commilting acts of violence on behalf of the gang and accumulate stripes to enhance their
ranking within a criminal organization.

194.  Williams indicated that he would conduct the shooting with Kicedoe
members, DaTraven Warren and Keyshawn Burton. Datraven Warren adds (o the
group chat, “Ton even got no stick but I wanna kill dis nigga he thank shi sweet.” Burton
likewise states in the group chat, “Onh I’'m my pocket . .. 30 stickin out™—-which in my
training and experience means that Burton is stating that he has a firearm that has a 30-
round extended magazine ready to go.

195, Kicedoe member, Isaiah Wiley later states in the chat, “We got da drop
onnem rn”—meaning that they know where AP, is currently located and suggesting that
they can conduct the shooting right then, DeMarco Westmoreland meanwhile inserted an

image of a map of the Bramblewood house into the chat then stated, “You know who addy
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that is gon head slide on him.” Jaylen Franklin, utilizing the Instagram handle
“(indhistashspot600,” followed up by sending pictures of the Bramblewood house with a
message saying, “Bingo.” Franklin also suggested looking at the Instagram page of their
target’s sister to determine which unit the target lived in: “Sb send the little sister @), . ..
She posted the door number b4.”

196. Later in the chat, Williams inserted an attachment and message which stated,

“Tryna hit his house up too.” FBI agents believe the latter attachment was rclated to the

Lynnfield address, where the second shooting occurred that night.

197. In the same group chat, on the morning after the two shootings, Lamarion

Austin states in the chat: “I'm trynna put in work nocap . . . Just smoked two opps back to
back ... I’m innat mode . . . Blunts* [laugh-cry emoji].” Williams added: 2 homes n got
gone on 12.” These statements confirm that the Kicedoe group conducted both drive-by
shootings and that the targets were “opps’—that is, opposing gang members.

198. OnlJanuary 11, 2023, APD Detectives received a report from the National
Integrated Ballistic Information Network (NIBIN), which indicated that the shell casings
collected from XXXX Bramblewood Court matched the casings collected at XXX

Lynnficld Court. Moreover, both shootings occurred within one hour of each other—ivhich

is consistent with Austin’s statements of the shootings occurring “back to hack.”
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COUNT SIX
Assault with a Dangerous Weapon in Aid of Racketeering upon C.W.
(Violation of [8 U.S.C, §§ 1959(a)(3) and 2)

199. Paragraphs 128 through 129 are hereby realleged and incorporated as if fully
set forth herein.

200. On or about June 9, 2023, in the Fort Worth Division of the Northern District
of Texas, defendants DeMarco Westmoreland and Bradley McArthur, and others known
and unknown, aiding and abetting each other, for the purpose of gaining entrance to and
maintaining and increasing position in the Kicedoe street gang, an enterprisc engaged in
racketeering activity, unlawfully and knowingly assaulted C. W, with a dangerous weapon,
in violation of Texas Penal Code §§ 22.02(a)(2), 7.01, and 7.02, all in violation of 13
U.S.C. §§ 1959(a)(3) and 2.

201, OnJune 9, 2023, at approximately 3:23 a.m., APD received multiple 911
calls reporting “shots fired” near XXX Moss Glen Trail, Arlinglon, Texas. Upon reaching
the residence, officers observed that the screen fo a front window had been broken out and
twelve spent 9mm shell casings were under the window. Officers attempted to contact the
occupants, who did not come to the door. When officers called the person associated with
the residence, A.W., she denied involvement and refused 1o exit the residence 1o speak o
officers.

202. Soon after arriving at the scene, APD received a report that a female had
arrived at the hospital with a gunshot wound. Officers traveled (o the hospital to gather
information, Upon reaching the hospital, APD officers observed a Chevrolet Sonic bearing

Texas registration MDZ6862 parked in the hospital’s parking lot.
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‘The vehicle had a shattered window and multiple bullet holes. Upon entering the facility,
Officer fackson identified the driver of the vehicle as C.W. The female victim was
identilied as T.H. Officers were informed that T.H was in critical condition and had been
transported to Medical City Arlington (MCA) for further care. Officers then interviewed
C.W,

203.  C.W. told officers that he was driving T.I."s Chevrolet Sonic on Pioncer
Parkway (Spur 303) in Arlington, Texas, when an unknown person driving a pick-up truck
began to “fire indiscriminately” at T.IL s vehicle. After firing several shots al them, the
vehicle left the scene. After the interview, Officers Jackson and Keany frisked C.W.'s
pei‘son and found C.W. to be in possession of a handgun and marijuana.

204. Officers then obtained and executed a search warrant at the Moss Glen "Irail
address. Among the occupants were DeMarco Westmoreland, Datraven Warren, and
Westmoreland’s mother, A.W. Datraven Warren and DeMarco Westmoreland were
knownt 1o APD as Kiccdoe gang members from previous encounters, and Warren and
Westmoreland had recently advertised the sale ol marijuana on social media.

205. During the search, APD seized: a 5.56 magazine, three handgun holsters, a
9mm magazine, two 9mm bullets, a black magazine loader, a broken-down shotgun, 3.50z
of marijuana, and a black Canik handgun container.

Interview of TLH,

206. Detectives then interviewed T.H. at the hospital, noting that she appeared
distraught and cried throughout the interview. T.H. advised that on the night she was shot.

she was hanging out at a hotel with a male named “CC,” who she identified as C. W,
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207,  According to T.H., while at the hotel, C.W. contacted a male named “Sticks”
to purchase marijuana, C,W. agreed to meet Sticks at the Moss Glen Trail house (o
complete the deal.

208. C.W.and T.I. traveled to the address in her Chevrolet Sonic. C.W.’s brother
followed them in a blue Ford Fusion. Upon reaching the address, C.W. approached the
parage door where he met with Westmoreland and Sticks in the driveway. Instead of
completing the drug transaction, Westmoreland robbed C.W, of his firearm,
Westmoreland pulled the gun from C.W.’s waistband and pointed it at hiny before
returning to his home with C.W.’s firearm.

209. Returning to the vehicle, C.W. drove away and proceeded to a gas station
where he arranged to meet with another individual, A.L., {o obtain another pun, Alter
obtaining the gun from A.L., C.W. loaded the magazine with ammunition.

210. At that time, C.W. and T.H. traveled back to Westmoreland’s home on Moss
Glen where they attempted to confront Westmoreland and Sticks. This confrontation led
Lo the shooting at Moss Glen, for which APD was initially called.

Evidence Obtained from DeMarco Westmoreland's Instagram Account

211. FBI agents reviewed the search warrant return related to the Instagram
account of Westmoreland, from June 8, 2023, to June 9, 2023, to determince if’
Westmoreland discussed the robbery of C.W. in the Kiccdoe group chat.

212. Inreviewing those messages, FBI agents discovered a conversation between
Westmoreland and other Kiccdoe gang members, which took place during the early

morning hours of July 9, 2023, in which Westmoreland brags about stealing a “New
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Glock™ from another male name “Cece” and attaches a picture of the gun.

Identification of Sticks

213.  Using the Texas Gang Database, I'Bl agents determined a maie named
Bradley MeArthur Jr. was a documented Kiccdoe gang member, known 1o use the alins
“Stix.” FBI agents later obtained a search warrant for MeArthur’s [nstagram account,

214, While reviewing McArthur’s account, FBI agents observed a conversalion
that occurred on August 16, 2024, between McArthur and the user of Instagram account,
“iiamllyn,” in which McArthur admits to robbing C.W. with Westmoreland,

215.  Audio messages suggested the same. At 11:10 p.m., McArthur sent an audio
message in which he said, “I ain’t even gone lie, . . .. Before he was finna pull up, we was
pone slime his ass. We was already talkin bout it. I ain’t even gone lie.”

216, At11:11 p.m., McArthur sent another audio message number, in whicl he
said, “*Marco said he wanted the gun. He said just distract him. So shit, that's what [ did.”

217.  In planning and executing the robbery of C.W., and in subsequently
publishing details and pictures of the exploit to the Kiccdoe group chat, Wesimoreland and
MecArthur sought to earn “stripes” and thereby increase their positions in Kicedoe, as well

as promote and maintain Kiccdoe’s reputation as a violent street gang.

Criminal Complaint - Page 54 of 85




Case 4:25-mj-00708-BP Document1l Filed 11/04/25 Page 55 0of 85 PagelD 226

COUNT SEVEN
Possession of a Firearm in Furtherance of a Drug Trafficking Crime
(Violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 924(c)(1{A) and 2}

218.  On or about July 19, 2023, in the Northern District of Texas, the defendants.
Isaiah Rashad Wiley, aiding and abelting others, did knowingly possess a firearm, to wit:
a pistal, in furtherance of a drug trafficking crime for which he may be prosecuted in a
court of the United States, that is, conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute a
controlled substance, as described in Count Three of this Complaint, in vielation ol 8

U.S.C. §§ 924(c)(1)A) and 2.

219,  While reviewing the search warrant return for Instagram account,

“Zaedatrapgod,” an account known to be utilized by Kiccdoe gang member. Isaiah Wiley.

BT agents learned that Wiley was using his Instagram account as a drug distribution
platform to advertise and sell marijuana, THC infused vaping devices, and promethazine.
220.  Wiley utilized Instagram “stories” to post photos of drugs and list the prices
lor specific weights of narcotics. After making the posts, various individuals would contact
Wiley to arrange to purchase specified amounts of narcotics.
221. On September 28, 2024, at approximately 2:03 p.m., Wiley posted an image.

informing customers that he was “active” with a fire emoji. FBI agents know the fire cmoji

to be a reference to marijuana.
222,  After making the post, Wiley conspired with the users of several other
accounts (o distribute marijuana. On September 28, 2024, at about 5:47 p.a., the user of

Instagram account “Ms.Different,” contacted Wiley to purchase 3.5 grams ol marijuana.
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223, On the same day, at about 7:43 p.m., the user of Instagram account, “Li
Bubba,” contacted Wiley to purchase marijuana.

224,  On December 1, 2024, Wiley contacted the user of [nstagram account,
“Youngest turnt in ts” aka “Kiloexotics_,” to order a quarter pound of marijuana. After
obtaining the marijuana, Wiley re-posted the marijuana to his Instagram page to sell to his
customers in smaller quantities.

225.  Shortly after obtaining the “4 different flavors” from his supplicr, Wiley
posted the videos to his account indicaling to his customers he had four difTerent strains of
marijuana for sale, which he named, “Dark Chetry Runtz,” “Obama Runtz.” “King Runz.”
and “lerrari Runtz.”

226. OnJuly 19, 2023, at approximately 9:28 a.m., Wiley posted an image
informing his customers he was actively selling marijuana.

227. On the same date, at approximately 3:45 p.m., Wiley received a message
from the user of Instagram account, “Luh.leonard,” who inquired about purchasing
marijuana. According to Instagram messages, the parties arranged to meet to conduct the
transaction at or around 4:00 p.mn.

228,  On the same date, at about 4:15 p.m., APD Officers conducted a traftic stop
on a Chevrolet Camaro bearing Texas registration 3188Y 18. Afler activating emergency

lights, officers observed the front passenger making furtive movements within the vehicle,

229. Officers identified the driver as Kiccedoe gang member Sir James Mack

Williams and the passenger as Isaiah Rashad Wiley.
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230,  APD officers searched the area of the vehicle where they observed Wiley
stuff something into the backseat in a forceful manner. Officers found in the car marijuana
and a black handgun. Wiley was arrested for Unlawful Carrying Weapon, Possession ol

Marijuana, and Tampering/fabricating Physical Evidence with Intent to Impair.
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COUNT EIGHT
Murder of K.J. in Aid of Racketeering
(Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1959(a)(1))

and

COUNT NINE
Assault with a Dangerous Weapon in Aid of Racketeering
(Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1959(a)(3))

231. Paragraphs 128 through 129 are hereby realleged and incorporated as it fully
set forth herein,

232.  On or about February 6, 2024, in the Northern District of Texas, the
defendant Chauncey Ross, for the purpose of gaining entrance to and maintaining and
increasing position in the Kiccdoe street gang, an enterprise engaged in racketeering
activity, unlawfully and knowingly murdered K.J., in violation of Texas Pcnat Code §
19.02(b), alt in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1959(a)(1).

233. Paragraphs 128 through 129 are hereby realleged and incorporated as il fully
set forth herein.

234, On or about February 6, 2024, in the Northern District of Texas, the
defendant Chauncey Ross for the purpose of gaining entrance to and maintaining and
increasing position in the Kicedoe street gang, an enterprise engaged in racketeering
activity, unlawfully and knowingly assaulled B.G. with a dangerous weapons, in violation
of Texas Penal Code §§ 22.02(a)(2), all in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1959(a){3).

235. On February 6, 2024, Dallas Police Department (DPPD) Officers responded Lo
a shooting call at an apartment on Skillman Street, Dallas, Texas. Upon atrival, DPD

officers learned that two individuals were shot. The first victim was 1dentified as B.G.
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The second, who later died from his injuries, was identified as K.J. DPD dctectives
interviewed the surviving witness and learned the following:

236. K.J was talking on the phone inside ol a bedroom in the apariment when a
male entered the room, produced a handgun, and shot K.J several times. After shooting K.,
the male turned to B.G. and shot her in the arm as she shielded her infant,

237. The male then exited the apartment. K.J. attempted to pursue the male but
later collapsed in the parking lot between two vehicles, where he died from his injurics.

238. B.G. was transported to the hospital by Dallas Fire-Rescue, where she was
treated for non-life-threatening injuries and interviewed by DPD detectives. During the
interview, B.G. informed detectives she only knew the shooter as “Jugg-bands.” In
addition, B.G. informed deiectives of the shooter’s Instagram account, through which
detectives identified the shooter as Chauncey Ross, a documented Kicedoe gang member.

239, On February 7, 2024, B.G. reviewed a lineup and identified Ross as the
person who shot her and murdered K.J. On February 8, 2024, DPD issued a warrant for
Ross’s arrest for Murder and Aggravated Assault with a Deadly Weapon.

240. Following the murder, Ross boasted to his Instagram followers and to
Kiccdoe members that he now has “two hats,” meaning he has killed two pcople. His post
was reshared by muttiple Kiccdoe gang members who promoted and celebrated the murder
as an accomplishment.

241, Incommitting the murder and subsequent assault on the victim’s girlfricnd,
and in promoting it therealter, Ross sought to earn a stripe, increase his position in

Kiccdoe, and promote and maintain Kiccdoe’s reputation at large.
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COUNT TEN
Assault With a Dangerous Weapon in Aid of Racketeering upon T.P.
(Violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1959(a)(3) and 2)

242, Paragraphs 128 through 129 are hereby realleged and incorporated as it fully
set forth herein

243, On or about February 17, 2024, in the Fort Worth Division of the Northern
District of Texas, the defendants Kyron Qates, Isaiah Wiley, and Jakayla Totten, and
others known and unknown, aiding and abetting each other, for the purpose of gaining
entrance to and maintaining and increasing position in the Kicedoe street gang, an
enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, unlawfully and knowingly assaulted T.P. with a
dangerous weapon, in violation of Texas Penal Code §§ 22.02(a)(2), 7.01, and 7.02, all in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1959(a)(3) and 2.

244,  On February 17, 2024, at approximately 11:23 p.m., APD Oflicers responded
lo a shooting at San Clemente Drive, Arlington, Texas 76017.

245.  Upon reaching the address, APD officers located the victim, T.P. laying on
the ground outside with apparent gunshot wounds to his left leg and right forcarm. In
response, APD officers applied tourniquets onto the injured extremities as they awaited the
arrival of emergency medical services (EMS).

246.  After turning T.P. over to EMS, APD officers searched the immediate arca
and found five (5) shell casings in the middie of the roadway in front of where T.P. was

located. They later located another ten (10) shell casings.
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247.  Aflter searching the scene of the shooting, APD officers traveled to Medical
City Arlington (MCA) where they attempted to interview T.P. regarding the incident.

Interview of T.P.

248.  T.P. informed APD officers that, approximately two weceks prior. he mer a
female on Instagram. Afler texting with her the day of the shooting, T.P. and the femalce
agreed to meet in person at his home in Arlington, Texas.

249,  Afler receiving a notification that the female had arrived at his home. T.P.
proceeded to his front door and walked outside. T.P. could not recall what occurred alter he
walked outside; however, he did recall being shot multiple times by unknown persons.

250. T.P. believed he was “set up,” but did not know if the female he met on
Instagram was present at the shooting. I.P. did not know if the female arrived in a vehicle.
I1e only knew the female was supposed to be dropped off at his home by her friend.

251, T.P. informed officers that he observed a black Nissan parked outside ol his
residence prior to the shooting. T.P. informed officers he had not recently cngaged in any
arguments with anyone and did not have enemies who wished to harm him. T.P. indicated
he did not wish to pursue charges against the suspects who shot him.

Inforimation Provided by T.P.'s Family Members

252.  On February 20, 2024, APD Detectives received a phone call from the maother
and juvenile sister of T.P. T.P’s mother informed officets that T.P had undergone several
surgeries as a result of the shooting. T.P.’s mother also informed detectives that T.P. knew
the two males who shot him. T.P. informed his mother and sister that the Instagram

accounts of the shooters were “zaedatrapgod” and “74luhkj.”
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253.  APD Detectives were familiar with those account names and were able 1o
identify the males as Kyron Jamel Oates and Isaiah Rashad Wiley. T.P. also informed
his family members that he saw Oates and Wiley discharge firearms at him.

254. T.P.s sister accessed his Instagram account and located the messages 1.7,

exchanged with the unidentified black female (UBF). The messages displayved
communication between T.P. and the UBF in which the UBF informed T.P. that she was
arriving at his address in a black vehicle at the time of the shooting.

Second Interview of T.P.

255.  On February 23, 2024, detectives from APD re-interviewed 1.P.. who

informed detectives that the individuals who shot him utilized Instagram account names.
“zaedatrapgod” and “74luhkj.” T.P. informed detectives that conflict between him and the
subjecls arose after he released a song about them on his YouTube channel. 1.P. believed
he was shol because of the lyrics regarding Kicedoe, T.P, also utilized Instagram
messenger to inform his friends that he was shot by Wiley and Oates.

Identification of Female T.P. Messaged before Shooting

256. During APD’s investigation, detectives learned that prior to T.P. being shot,
he exchanged messages with an unknown black female who utilized Instagram account

“istartedalidisshit.” To identify the account user and authenticate records provided by 1.P."5

family members, detectives executed a search warrant on the account.
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257. FBI agents learned the user of the account registered the account
“istartedalldisshit” on April 7, 2020, and utilized email address, jukylatotier. 0 ¢ gnuil.com,
Using this information, FBI agents identified the user of the account as Jakyla Marie
Totten.

258.  After gathering the above information, Bl agents reviewed the contents of
I.P.’s Instagram account and observed a conversation in which T.P. and Totten discuss her
coming to T.P.’s house. The last message appears to describe the vehicle she’s pulling up
in: “Black car.” Approximately five (5) minutes after the last message, T.P was shot.
Totten did not send any additional messages to T.P after the shooting.

259,  On February 19, 2024, at 1:53 pm, Totten posted an image into a group chat
which contained a screenshot of a Shooting in Progress alert near T.P.’s residence, posied
on February 17, 2024, at 11:23 pm by Arlington TX Crime, with the caption, “Do yo
homework on how fast I get shii gone.” This is a reference to Totten’s role in the shooting.
which was to lure T.P. out of the house to be shot by Kiccdoe members.

260. Totten thus set up T.P. to be killed by luring him out of his homwe, as

described above, and then she confirmed the purpose of her act by posting a picture ol the

“Shooting in Progress” alert near T.P.’s residence and taking credit for “gel|ting] shift]
[dione.”
261. Detectives executed a search warrant on Isaiah Wiley’s account. While

reviewing the search warrant return, FBI agents learned Wiley registered the account using

email address isaiahwiley20144@email.com.
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262.  While reviewing the contents of Wiley’s account, I'BI agents observed a
conversation between Wiley and the user of Instagram account, “m.mikayyla.” later
identilied as Juvenile 11, the mother of Wiley's daughter, in which Juvenile 11 obtains
1.P.%s home address and sends it to Wiley at his request. During the conversation, Wiley
tells Juvenile 11 that he needs her to “follow™ his “opps,” meaning opposing gang
members. When she asks, “who is yo opps,” he replies: “yukno da nihs dissin on 600.” by
which he means opposing gang members “dissin” {or insulting) “600” (Kicedoe).

263. Although Juvenile 11 expresses concern that “they goin know it’s a set up,”
she ultimately obtains the address and sends it to Wiley, who tells her “dats da best thang
Yu did fa me.”

264, In planning and executing a retaliatory shooting in response (o T.P.
publishing a music video “dissin on 600,” Wiley and Oates sought to earn “siripes” and
thereby increase their positions in Kicedoe, as well as promote and maintain the gang’s
reputation in the communily. Totten aided and abetted their conduct by luring him out of
his house, knowing he was being set-up for an attempted murder, and knowing it was being

done to retaliate for a perceived slight to Kicedoe.
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COUNT ELEVEN
Possession of a Machinegun in Furtherance of a Drug Trafficking Crime
(Violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 924(c)(1)(A) and 924(c)(1 }(B)(ii) and 2)

265. Beginning in and around March 18, 2024, in the Northern District of Texus,
the defendants, Chauncey Ross, aiding and abetting others, did knowingly possess a
fircarm, to wit: a machinegun, in furtherance of a drug trafficking crime for which he may
be prosecuted in a court of the United States, that is, conspiracy to possess with intent 1o
distribute a controlled substance, as described in Count Three of this Complaint, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 924(c)(1){A) and 924(c)(1YBXii) and 2.

266. The search warrant return for Instagram account, “4K,” an account ulilized by
Kicedoe gang member, Chauncey Ross, revealed that Ross used Instagram “Stories™ (0
advertise and sell marijuana and firearms, Ross posted images or videos ol both to his
stories to notify his followers of the items he had for sale.

267.  Allter posting drugs and/or firearms for sale, Instagram users contacted Ross
to arrange the pickup or delivery of the listed items. For example, on March 18, 2024, Ross
messaged the user of Instagram account, “thareal§5double00,” to request assistance in
finding individuals who needed to purchase “za,” a common slang term for marijuana. F'he
user later contacted Ross to advise he located a customer who wanted to purchase
marijuana from Ross.

268,  On the same date, at approximately 2:02 a.n., Ross utilized Instagram to
arrange the sale of marijuana to the user of Instagram account, “kaayla2x._." including

sending a picture of the drugs.
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269.  On the same date, at approximately 2:29 p.m., Ross posted an image to his
stories which depicted himself holding a cigar and having a black pistol containing an
extended magazine with a gold machine gun conversion device affixed to the rear slide.
laying on his lap. The image contained the text, “Deliverin” with a fire emoji.

270. Through the affiant’s training and experience, he knew the firc emoji to be a
reference to marijuana, which indicated Ross was armed with a firearm and willing (o

deliver marijuana to customers.
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COUNT TWELVE
Assault with a Dangerous Weapon in Aid of Racketeering upon A.LNU
(Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1959(a)}(3) and 2)

271, Paragraphs 128 through 129 are hereby realleged and incorporated as if lully
set forth herein.

272.  On or about March 30, 2024, in the Fort Worth Division of the Northern
District of Texas, defendant Michael Mensah, and others known and unknown, aiding and
abetting each other, for the purpose of gaining entrance to and maintaining and increasing

position in the Kicedoe street gang, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activily.

unlawfully and knowingly assaulted A.LNU with a dangerous weapon, in violation ol

Texas Penal Code §§ 22.02(a)(2), 7.01, and 7.02, all in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1959(a}(3)

and 2.

273. On March 30, 2024, Michael Mensah, posted a video to the Kiccdoe group
chat depicting himself pushing an unknown male out of a moving vehicle alter robbing him
for a handgun and cash. As Mensah is forcing the male out of the vehicle al gunpoint. he is
heard saying, “Get out the fucking car my nigga.”

274. The video was recorded by a black female driver, later identified as J.11.
During the robbery, J.H. smiled at the camera and used her hand to make a peace sign as
the robbery was occurring in the backseat. Afler pushing the male out of the vehicle,
Mensah is seen holding a tan handgun with an extended magazine, which he used during
the robbery, and the silver handgun he took from the victim. After pulling away, J.H.

laughs and says, “success!” 1.1, then explains to Mensah that she planned to flee the area

using the route they discussed prior to the robbery.
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275.  Afler committing the robbery, Mensah posted images into the Kicedoe proup
chat to inform other gang members of his robbery, including images ol himsell with J.11.
and posing with the stolen gun and cash.

276. Mensah’s Instagram also revealed messages leading up to the robbery. On
March 26, 2024, Mensah reccived a message from Instagram user “Antonio_olTiialt.” in
which the user inquired about purchasing a Glock handgun. Mensah ultimately agreed o
travel to Grapevine, Texas to sell the handgun to A.LNU for $200 and a Ruger 9mm pistol,

277. Afler reaching a deal, A.LNU sent Mensah a Google Map location in
Grapevine, Texas. After confirming that A.LNU would be meeting him at the location by
himsel{, Mensal traveled to the address with 1.H. to complete the transaction,

278. After the robbery, A.LNU messaged Mensah, “U lame asf.” ¥Mensah replied,
“I’m already knowing.” Mensah also sent A.LNU a voice message stating, “You dumb
then a bitch. Nobody selfing no Glock for less than 550. I told yo ass that.”

279. Inplanning and executing the robbery of A.LNU, and in recording it and later
publishing a video of the exploit to the Kiccdoe group chat, Mensah sought to carn a siripe
and thereby increase his position in Kicedoe, as well as promote and maintain the gang’s

reputation in the community.
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COUNT THIRTEEN
Conspiracy to Commit Murder in Aid of Racketeering upon T.R,
(Violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1959(a)(5))

280. Paragraphs 128 through 129 are hereby realleged and incorporated as il fully
set forth bherein.

281.  On orabout April 24, 2024, in the Fort Worth Division of the Northern
District of Texas, defendant Cortez Atkinson, and others known and unknown, aiding and
abetting each other, for the purpose of gaining entrance to and maintaining and increasing
position in the Kiccdoe street gang, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity,
unlawfully and knowingly conspired and agreed with each other to murder T.R., in
violation of Texas Penal Code §§ 19.02 and 15.02, all in violation of I8 U.5.C. §§
1959(a)(5).

282, On April 24, 2024, at approximately 8:16 p.m., APD officers responded to the
Jones Apartiments on Lincoln Drive, Arlington, Texas, to conduct a “shots fired”
investigation, While on scene, officers conferred with witnesses who reported the shooling
was perpetrated by four males wearing black and white clothing, hoods over their heads.
masks covering their faces, and carrying “short rifles” by their sides.

283. Witnesses observed the males walking toward an apartment with their
firearms pointed toward the building before hearing gunshots. Shortly thercafter, they
observed the males running away from the building in different directions.

284, Witnesses told APD detectives that they believed the shooters were Kicedoe
pang members—identifying four juvenile Kicedoe members. One witness advised his

brother, T.R,, was the target of the shooting,.
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All four suspects were known to APD to be Kiccdoe gang members.

285.  While reviewing social media contenl posted by Kicedoe gang members,
APD detectives observed numerous comments in which Kicedoe gang members were
“voicing their anger about their friend being murdered at Bowie High School earlier in the
day” and seeking retribution. In addition to the observations, APD detectives observed
members of a rival street-gang known as Shakebacce taunting members of Kicedoe
regarding the murder.

Evidence Obtained {rom Kiccdoe Group Chat

286. TFBI agents later obtained search warrants for multiple Instagram accounts
associated with members of Kiccdoe. While reviewing the contents, FBI agents identified
Kicedoe members, including Michael Mensah, Ralphael Opare, Dillen Opare, Kyron Oates.
Vernal Woods, DeMarco Westmoreland, Cortez Atkinson, and Da'Traven Warren,
engaging in a conversation on April 24, 2024, in which they conspired to locate and kill
Shakebacc members in retaliation for the murder of their member E.B.

287. While reviewing the contents of Juvenile 2°s account, investigators
discovered messages between Juvenile 2 and other Kicedoe members that were deleted
[rom other accounts, The messages show Juvenile 2 volunteering a car for something.
Later, members of Kiccdoe learn that J.H. was arrested for the murder of I=.B.; therelore,
Kiccdoe gang members began to discuss other targets to avenge E.B.’s death. They
expressed a belief that E.B. was “setup” by a female, whose picture they circulated to the

group.
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288.  At4:17 p.m. on April 24, 2024, Juvenile 4 posted a screenshot ol a message
which stated, “it’s not over anna but you del know she set ts up.” Juvenile 4 then posted
another screenshot which stated, “They saying he not dead but in grave condition.” After
posting the screenshots to the group chat, Kicedoe members began to discuss targeting, a
male named “50” in response to E.B.’s murder.

289. At approximately 4:27 p.m., Cortez Atkinson posted a screenshot to the
Kicedoe group chat in which a person named, “M.LA. _stunna.mo” informed him that he
heard that “Anna® set E.B. up. Afler posting the message to the group chat. Atkinson
messaged: “That Anna ho gotta die.” Members then discuss Anna’s “(@” (her [nstagram
handie) and express a plan to “visit 50.”

290. Kiccdoe members on the group chat also discuss the identity of 111, the
individual who killed E.B., and how they would like to kill him, saying *That jojo nigga
potta die” and “I’'ll smoke his faggot ass 2 quice.”

291. As the conversalion continued, members of Kiccdoe learned that LH. was
arrested for the murder of E.B. Therefore, Kiccdoe gang members began to discuss other
targets to avenge E.B.’s death.

292. DBased on the messages, FBI agents believed the individuals were conspiring
lo commit a retaliation shooting by locating and shooting a Shakebacc gang member known
as 50" or “Melly.” Investigators determined that “50” or “Melly” is the same person

identified by wilnesses of the shooting as the target (i.e., “T.R.”).
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293, Prior to the shooting, Kicedoe members discussed meeting each other at
Arbrook Park Apartments in Arlington, Texas. Afier traveling to Arbrook Park Apartments,
various individuals, including Juvenile 2 and Atkinson, began to post images of their

firearms into the group chat, as detailed below:

User Message Time

Tuvenile 2 “Ono6 I got switch” 5:19 pm

Tuvenile 2 5:24 pm

Juvenile 2 5:24 pm

Cortez Atkinson 6:11 j)tn
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Juvenile 2 6:12 pm

Shooting at Jones Apartiments in Arlington, Texas

294, At approximately 8:16 p.m., APD responded to the Jones Apartments alter
receiving calls for “shots fired” in the area. The Jones Apartments were known to be
heavily populated by Shakebace members. At approximately 8:26 p.m., a juvenile Kiccdoe
member posted to the Kiccdoe group chat, “Why Liyah just call me talm bout did 600 just
spend threw da 7.” Kiccdoe members responded to the message with laughing emojis.

295. Between 8:48 p.m. and 9:15 p.m., Kiccdoe member Michael Mensah posted
multiple videos to the group chal depicting Kiccdoe members at the Arbrook Park
Apartments waving guns in the air, At 10:23 p.m., Mensah posted a message to the group
chat: “Bring Lonnie phone and 9 bullets.” While processing the crime scene APD collected
nine .229 Hornady casings, six 9mum casings, and two Luger 9mm casings.

Interview of Vernal Woods

296.  On December 19, 2024, APD anested Woods for Engaging in Organized

Criminal Activity and Possession of Marijuana. After being arrested, Woods waived his

Miranda rights and spoke to detectives.
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297.  Asked about the shooting that occurred on April 24, 2024, Woods told
investigators that “everybody in 600” came to his apartment the night of the shooting. He
said that, while he was outside smoking a cigar, everyone left his house. And thena few
minutes later, they all returned in one vehicle, including Datreven Warren and DeMarco

Westimoreland.
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COUNT FOURTEEN
Assault with a Dangerous Weapon in Aid of Racketeering upon N.LNU
(Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1959(3) and 2)

298. Paragraphs 128 through 129 are hereby realleged and incorporated as il fully
set Forth herein.

299,  On or about July 5, 2024, in the Fort Worth Division of the Northern District
of Texas, defendant JaMarion Manogin, and others known and unknown. aiding and

abetting each other, for the purpose of gaining entrance to and maintaining and increasing

position in the Kiccdoe street gang, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activily,

unlawfully and knowingly assaulted with a dangerous weapon, in violation of Texas Penal
Code § 22.02(a)(2). In violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1959(a)(3) and 2

300. While reviewing the Instagram search watrant return of Vernal Woods, 1'BI
agents located a video sent to Woods on July 5, 2024, at 8:37 p.m., by an individual
utilizing the Instagram name, “187him_," later identified as JaMarion Manogin. The
video shows Manogin and another male robbing a person named, N.LNU, lor a firearm
and cellular phone. Manogin also messaged Woods, “i jacked [N.LNU],” confirming the
robbery.

301, In the video, Manogin can be seen standing next to a table holding a black
handgun with an extended magazine. The victim is sitting on top of the table which had

another handgun and rifle-style firearm lying on top of it,

302. Manogin racked the slide of the firearm he was holding and removed both
ltrearms from the table. Manogin then backed away from the table with all three lirearms

in his hands as the victim stood up.

Criminal Complaint - Page 75 of 85



Case 4:25-mj-00708-BP Document 1  Filed 11/04/25 Page 76 of 85 PagelD 247

As the victim began to approach the subject, the subject stated, “Don’t run up on me bitch.”
The subject then turned toward the individual recording the robbery and stated. “Stop
playing. New smitty. Stop playing. I did this for Bang nigga, pushout,” The camera man
then stated, “He did that for Bangman.”

303. Manogin then handed the stolen handgun and rifle-style firenrm (o the
cameraman before walking back toward the victim with the remaining gun in his hand.
Upon reaching the victim, Manogin stated, “Let me get that phone.” The victim did nol
comply with the subject’s demand. The cameraman then stated, “He want the phone bilch,
just give the phone up bitch.”

304. Inresponse to the victim failing to comply, Manogin fired one round from
his handgun into the ground, and stated, “Let me get the phone.” The victim then removed
the phone from his pocket and handed it to Manogin as the video recording ended.

305. Manoegin video recorded the offense to later disseminate a record of the act to
Kicedoe members. When he sent the video to Kicedoe member Vernal Woods
immediately following the offense, Manogin stated “i jacked [N.LNUJ,” and asked. i can
come back to atbrook now huh[?] . . . ori gotta get my rank up and jack jacori too?”
“Arbrook” is a reference to the apartment compiex where many Kiccdoe members live and
where the gang regularly meets; and “rank” is a reference to Manogin’s standing in

Kiccdoe. This indicates that Manogin committed the robbery to gain entrance to Kiccdoe.
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COUNT IFIFTEEN
Discharge of a Firearm in Relation to a Crime of Violence in Aid of Rackcteering
(Violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 924(c)(1)(A))

306. Paragraphs 293 through 300 of this Complaint are incorporated and realleged
as if fully set forth herein.

307.  On or about July 5, 2024, in the Fort Worth Division of the Northern District
of Texas, defendant, JaMarion Manogin, did knowingly possess a firearm, to wit: a pistol,
and that firearm discharged during and in relation (o a crime of violence for which he may
be prosecuted in a court of the United States, that is, assault with a dangerous weapon in aid
of racketeering, as described in Count Fourteen of this Complaint, in violation of 18 L-.5.C.

§§ 924(c)(1)(A) and 2.
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COUNT SIXTEEN
Conspiracy to Distribute Controlled Substances
(Violation of 21 U.S.C. § 846)

308. Beginning in and around August 2024, and continuing through at least
December 2024, in the Fort Worth Division of the Northern District of Texas, the
defendants, Bradley McArthur and Sadedrick Wilson, along with others known and
unknown, did knowingly and intentionally combine, conspire, confederate. and agrec o
engage in conduct in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 84 1(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C), namely o possess
with intent to distribute a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of N-
phenyl-N-[1-( 2-phenylethyl }-4-piperidinyl} propanamide, commonly referred to as
fentanyl, a Schedule II controlled substance, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 840 (21 U.S.C. §§
841(a)(1) and (BY1)YC)).

309. While reviewing the search warrant return for Instagram account,
“WalkDownSTIX,” an account known to be utilized by Kiccdoe gang member, Bradley
McArthur Jr., FBI agents observed that McArthur was utilizing his Instagram account as
a drug distribution platform where he could advertise and sell Marijuana, Promethazine,
Percocet, Fentanyl, Shrooms, and other narcotics.

310. McArthur utilized Instagram “‘stories™ to notify his followers ol illegal
narcotics for sale, posting pictures of drugs and listing prices for specific weights,

3t1. In response to the posts, McArthur's followers contacted him through
[nstagram to arrange fo purchase narcotics. On December 7, 2024, at approximately [0:09
a.m., McArthur posted a story displaying a plastic bag containing shrooms and a phone

emoji, indicating that customers could contact him to purchase shrooms.
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312.  On the same date, at approximately 12:17 p.m., the user of Instagram account.
“YNP.” contacted McArthur to arrange to purchase illegal narcotics as well.

313, On August 18, 2024, at approximately 9:35 p.m., the user of Instagram
account, “cayleecat,” contacted McArthur to purchase “blues,” i.e., fentanyl pills,

McArthur Trafficked IFentanyl to Undercover APD Officer and Others

314. On August 13, 2024, McArthur utilized the Telegram handle,
“@stixfrm600blk” to discuss the sale of fentanyl with an undercover (UC) APD Officer,
On August 14, 2024, the UC traveled to XXXX Wickersham Drive, Arlington, Texas,
where they exchanged the agreed upon amount with McArthur. McArthuy then provided
the UC with a bag containing blue pills stamped “M/30.” The UC immedialely recognized
the pills to be illicit fentanyl tablets, commonly referred to as “blues.” The confiscated pills
Iater tested positive for fentanyl.

315. On October 18, 2024, FBI agents observed Instagram posts by the user of
Instagram account, “bearkiccdoe74,” indicating that Wilson (also known as “Dro™)
distributes fentany! pills in addition to marijuana.

316. On October 24, 2024, McArthur and Wilson utilized Instagram direct

messages to discuss the sale of a “k pack” of fentanyl pills at a price of two dotlars per pill,
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COUNT SEVENTEEN
Assault With a Dangerous Weapon in Aid of Racketeering upon M.T.
(Violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1959(a)(3) and 2)

317. Paragraphs 128 through 129 are hereby realleged and incorporated as il [ully

set forth herein.

318. On or about March 10, 2025, in the Fort Worth Division of the Northern

District of Texas, defendant Cortez Atkinson, and others known and unknown, aiding and
abelting each other, for the purpose of gaining entrance to and maintaining and increasing
position in the Kiccdoe street gang, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity,
unlawfully and knowingly assaulted W.K. with a dangerous weapon, in violation of Texas

Penal Code §§ 22.02(a)(2), 7.01, and 7.02, all in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1959(a)(3) and

2.

319.  On March 10, 2025, APD officer responded to XXXX Tratlwood Court.
Apartment XXX, Arlington, Texas, for a shooting in progress. Upon atrival, officers
fearned that a 13-year-old gitl had been shot.

320. Processing the crime scene, APD detectives located approximately 40 spent
shell casings in the parking lot, in two groupings, approximalely one hundred yards from
one another. According to APD’s report, “based on ballistic evidence and the apartments

who were struck by gunfire, it appears that two parties were shooling at each other.” The

victim’s apartment was positioned in the backdrop of the shooting.

321.  While conducting a neighborhood canvas, APD officers conferred with one

resident who advised he had a camera installed in his window. The resident shared a copy

ol the video footage with APD,
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Upon reviewing the footage, oflicers observed two males walking passed the resident’s
window at 1:14 a.m., about one minute before the 911 call.

322. The males were observed walking toward the area where APD recovered
spent shell casings. Due to the quality of the video, APD officers were unable (o visualiv
identify the individuals; however, officers did observe one male holding a black object in
his right hand that is about the size and shape of a handgun.

323, On March 12, 2025, two days after the shooting in question, at approximately
8:30 p.m., APD responded to Arbrook Park Apartments after receiving calls that multiple
individuals armed with firearms were outside of the apartment complex. Upon reaching the
apattment complex, APD officers apprehended the individuals in question, arvested two
individuals for deadly conduct, and detained multiple others—including juvenile T.13.

Interview of T.3.

324, Officers detained a juvenile, T.B., who resided al the target apartment with
his father, who was also present during his interaction with law enforcement. After
detectives asked T.B. if he knew anything about the shooting that occurred two days prior
on March 10, 2025, he stated the shooting was a retaliation shooting related to a previous
robbery that occurred in December 2024.

325. T.B. stated that prior to officers arriving and detaining them that day, he was
engaged in a dice game with two males named M.T. and D.J. MUT. and D.J. both spoke

about the March 10 shooting while they were shooting dice.
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326, AsT.3., ML.T., and D.J. continued to shoot dice, they informed T.B. that they
wete involved in March 10 shooting, during which they (M.T. and D.J.) shot at two
individuals who had previously robbed one of them for a firearm. M.T. and D.I. identified
to T.B. that the two individuals who shol at them were “Cortez” and Juvenite 7. T.13.
confirmed that the males were Kiccdoe members. APD detectives knew “Cortez” to be
Cortez Atkinson and Juvenile 7 to be an unidentified Kicedoe member who posts on
Instagram and has been mentioned in past investigations.

327, T.B. then informed detectives that Juvenile 7 previously tesided at Arbrook
Park Apartments. T.B.’s father utilized a map to show officers where Juvenile 7°s
apartment was. Using the information, detectives identified Juvenile 7°s previous address as
XXXX Nandina Drive, Apartment XXX, Arlinglon, Texas.

328. During the interview, T.B.’s father confirmed the individuals reported to have
been outside of the apartment complex with guns (/.e., M.T. and D.J.) did run into his
apartment before being called out by officers. T.B.’s father granted APD consent to search
his apartment. During the search, APD recovered one American Tactical pistol rifle, 5.56
caliber; a .380 Ruger handgun; a 9mm Taurus handgun; and a Springfield Armory 9mm
handgun.

Inferview of M.T,

329, Aller the interview of T.B., detectives traveled to Arlington City Jajl, where
they knew M.T. was in custody. After reading M.T. his Miranda warnings, M. T. waived
his rights and agreed to participate in an interview. M.T. initially denied knowledge or

ivolvemenlt in the March 10, 2025 shooting.
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CONCLUSION

Based upon the above facts and circumstances, I submit there is probahle causc 1o
believe that defendants Michael Mensah, Ralphael Opare, Dillen Opare, Isaiah Wiley,
Kyron Oates, Vernal Woods, DeMarco Westmoreland, Cortez Atkinson, Bradley
MecArthur Jr., DaTraven Warren, Sir James Mack Williams, Sadedrick Wilson,
Jaylen Jeshaun Franklin, Joseph Hill, Chauncey Ross, Marcus Shaw, Jamarion
Manogin, Blake Aaron Scott, KeyShawn Burton, LaMarion Austin, and J;ll(ay.la
Totten committed the offenses described above, in yiolation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1959, 1962,

924(c), 924(0), and 21 U.S.C. § 846.

TR o]

Michael Gantt, Spectal Agent
Federal Bureau of Investigation

Sworn to me on this A‘M day of November 2025 at L?jzi :s.m. in

FFort Worth, Texas.

'zwzmﬁ

HAL R, RAY, JR.
UNITED STATES MAGISTRA'I‘E JUDGE
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However, he informed detectives that he was present for an altercation in December
between D.J. and Juvenile 7.

330. As the interview continued, M.T. admitted to being present at the fatest
shooting on March 10, 2025. He advised that he and D.J. were in the complex near the
playground area when they observed Juvenile 7 and Atkinson approaching them, M.'T.
advised that Juvenile 7 and Atkinson began to shoot at them, and he returned lire witl a
380 caliber firearm he had in his possession. M.'T. believed he fired three or tour rounds,
M.T. could not recall how many rounds D.J. fired. After the gunfire stopped, M.T. retreated
and gave the gun to an unidentified person.

331. After pointing out the approximate location of the gun battle, APD detectives

confinmed the focations matched the area where sheil casings were recovered.
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